
 
                                  

 
                           

                                                            AGENDA 
 
 

 

CABINET 
 

 
MONDAY, 6 NOVEMBER 2006 

 
11.00 AM 

 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL OFFICES, ST PETERS HILL, 
GRANTHAM 

 
Duncan Kerr, Chief Executive    

 

CABINET 
MEMBERS: 

Councillor Mrs. Linda Neal (Leader/ Portfolio: Strategic Partnerships 
& Community Safety), Councillor Ray Auger (Portfolio: Healthy 
Environment), Councillor Terl Bryant (Portfolio: Resources & 
Assets), Councillor Paul Carpenter (Deputy Leader & Portfolio: 
Access and Engagement), Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright 
(Portfolio: Organisational Development & Housing) and Councillor 
John Smith (Portfolio: Economic Development) 

  
Cabinet Support 
Officer: 

Jo Toomey 01476 406152 
e-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

  

 
Members of the public are entitled to attend the meeting of the Cabinet at which key 
decisions will be taken on the issues listed on the following page.  Key decisions are 
marked *. 
 

  
1. APOLOGIES 
  
2. MINUTES 
 To approve the record of the Cabinet meeting held on 9th October 2006. 

 (Attached) 
  
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY) 

 
  

 



 
CATEGORY A PRIORITY ISSUE: 
 
4. 101 SINGLE NON-EMERGENCY NUMBER PARTNERSHIP BID: UPDATE 
 Report number SD7 by the Strategic Director, Resources. (Attached) 
  
CATEGORY B PRIORITY ISSUE: 
 
5. RE-INSPECTION OF STRATEGIC HOUSING SERVICES 
 Report number HST10 by the Organisational Development and Housing Services 

Portfolio Holder. (Attached) 
  
CATEGORY M ISSUE: 
 
6. *LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: CORE STRATEGY PREFERRED 

OPTIONS FOR PUBLIC CONSULTATION (PART 1) 
 Report number PLA623 by the Economic Development Portfolio Holder. 

 (Attached) 
  
7. MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR THE DEVELOPMENT 

& SCRUTINY PANELS 
  
8. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY AND 

NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS. 
  
9. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON 

MATTERS WITHIN THE FORWARD PLAN (IF ANY) 
  
10. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS 
  
11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF SPECIAL 

CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT 
  
  

 



1 

 
 

 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 
9 October 2006  - (11:00-12:07) 

 
PRESENT:  
 
 Councillor Ray Auger

 Councillor Terl Bryant
 Councillor Paul Carpenter
 Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright
 Councillor John Smith 

  
 Councillor Mrs. Linda Neal – Leader / Chairman 

 
Chief Executive 
Strategic Director 
Service Manager, Legal Services (Monitoring Officer) 
Service Manager, Economic Development and Town Centre 
Management 
Service Manager, Finance and Risk Management 
Communications Manager 
Service Manager, Planning Policy 
Cabinet Support Officer 
Public Relations Officer 

 
CO52. MINUTES 
  

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 4th September 2006 were 
approved as a correct record. 

  
CO53. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY) 
  

No declarations made. 
  
CO54. *CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
  

DECISION: 
 
The Cabinet: 
 

Agenda Item 2 



2 

1. Recommends to Council the approval of the revised capital 
programme as attached at appendix A to report CHFR20; 

2. Notes the comments of the Section 151 officer regarding the 
proposed temporary use of Useable Housing Capital Receipts to 
finance the 2006/07 capital programme; 

3. Notes that the Section 151 officer will determine the actual 
financing of the capital programme when closing the accounts for 
2006/07 when full details of the delivery of the programme and 
available financing options are known; 

4. Notes that the Section 151 officer will consider the longer term 
impact of capital financing in conjunction with the Capital and 
Treasury Management advisors as part of the preparation of 
budgets for 2007/08 and provide further advice to the Council in the 
Budget Report for 2007/08. 

 
Considerations/Reasons for Decision: 
 

(1) Report number CHFR20 by the Corporate Head of Finance and 
Resources providing an update on the progress of the delivery of the 
Capital Programme for 2006/07 and identifying for approval 
amendments to the programme to take account of the outturn 
position for 2005/06 (detailed in CHFR10) and the current officer and 
contractor capacity to deliver the programme by the end of the 
financial year; 

(2) The revised capital programme attached at appendix A to report 
CHFR20; 

(3) The Council’s Category A priority on the use of resources; 
(4) Demand for Disabled Facilities Grants and the opportunity to submit 

applications for additional Specified Capital Grant within the 2006/07 
financial year; 

(5) Changes to the original programme: Aire Road, Grantham; 
Demolition of East Street Car Park, Grantham; Wharf Road, 
Stamford; multi-storey car park, Welham Street, Grantham; access to 
Council services and the modernisation programme; wheeled bin 
procurement; provision for existing assets; Health and Social Care 
Community Innovation Centre and Financial Ledger modules; 

(6) The full utilisation of the capital reserve with no significant receipts 
would mean an increase in the Council’s underlying need to borrow; 

(7) The reduced level of anticipated capital receipts in the 2006/07 
financial year leading to a short term capacity issue which it was 
hoped would be corrected by the capital receipt from the sale of 
surplus land anticipated in 2007/08; 

(8) To provide an internal financing option instead of borrowing by the 
use of housing capital receipts. 

  
CO55. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: UPDATE ON PROGRESS AND 

REVISION TO LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
  

DECISION: 
 

 



3 

The Cabinet agreed to: 
 

1. Note the work completed to date on producing the core 
documents of the Local Development Framework (LDF); 

2. Endorse the extension of the preferred options consultations for 
the Core Strategy and the site allocations and Development 
Control policies; 

3. Agree to the revised LDF timetable appended to this report 
(Appendix 1) as the basis for the revision of the Local 
Development Scheme; 

4. Send a letter to the Department for Communities and Local 
Government and copied to the Government Office for the East 
Midlands expressing concern over the lack of sufficient 
guidance from central government and the implicit costs of 
unexpectedly having to extend work. 

 
Considerations/Reasons for decision 
 

(1) Report number PLA615 by the Economic Development Portfolio 
Holder on the status for Local Development Framework for South 
Kesteven and seeking endorsement for the extension to the 
preferred options consultation that was undertaken on the Core 
Strategy and Housing and Economic DPD (revised timetable 
attached as appendix 1); 

(2) Letter dated 11th August 2006 from the Department for Communities 
and Local Government, attached as appendix 2 to report PLA615; 

(3) National examinations of the soundness of LDF core strategies 
where the first two submitted were deemed unsound by the Planning 
Inspectorate and concerns that preferred options work undertaken by 
SKDC could also be found to be unsound, causing abortive work; 

(4) GOEM recommendations that the council extend or redo consultation 
on preferred options to reflect more fully Government guidance set 
out  in PPS12, which required full consideration of all options; 

(5) Amending the timetable would mean that the next stages of the plan 
would be prepared in the most cost-effective, resource-effective and 
timetable-effective way; 

(6) Delays would mean that the LDF could be aligned with the emerging 
Lincolnshire Spatial Strategy, which would have a plan period to 
2026 and increase the housing target; 

(7) Housing allocations in the old Lincolnshire Structure Plan could 
prevent the Council from meeting its affordable housing targets; 

(8) The identified need to produce three Area Action Plans for Grantham 
and Stamford and a supplementary planning document for affordable 
housing. 

 
Other options considered and assessed: 
 

1. To progress on to the next stages of the Core Strategy and Housing 
and Economic DPD, i.e. the submission draft consultation and retain 
the timetable for production of all LDF documents as set out in the 

 



4 

Local Development Scheme (April 2005). The risks with ignoring 
advice from Government Officer and progressing with the production 
of the Core Strategy and the Housing and Economic DPD as 
originally timetabled were significant. The option should not be 
pursued as the Government’s view on the matter as set out in the 
DCLG letter dated 11 August 2006 (Appendix 1). Progressing with 
the LDF based on the current timetable would result in an adopted 
Core Strategy and Site Allocations that fail to reflect the emerging 
Regional Spatial Plan. The lifespan of the documents would be 
extremely limited because key issues such as housing figures would 
be out of date when the document is adopted.  

  
CO56. CORPORATE PLAN AND THE COUNCIL'S VISION 
  

DECISION: 
 

1. The Cabinet recommends to Council the draft Corporate Plan for 
2006 to 2009, subject to amendments to be notified by each of 
the Portfolio Holders; 

2. Any further minor contextual amendments to the plan be 
delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader 
prior to submission to the next meeting of full council for 
adoption; 

3. To welcome the input of staff members, which has led to the 
creation of a useable, workable document. 

 
Considerations/Reasons for Decision 
 

(1) Report number SD6 by the Strategic Director showing: how the Draft 
Corporate Plan for 2006-2009 (attached as appendix 1 to the report) 
dovetails with other plans, including Service Plans, legislative 
requirements for corporate planning and steps taken to review and 
refresh the council’s vision before inclusion within the Corporate 
Plan; 

(2) A requirement by law, for all authorities within England and Wales to 
publish certain corporate planning and performance information on 
an annual basis and it being made available to the public; 

(3) The “Golden Thread” process would focus resources and attention 
on the delivery of Council priorities and what the community has 
stated was important to them; 

(4) The Corporate Plan would help the Council work with the LSP to 
deliver partnership objectives of the Community Plan; 

(5) Residents of the District, while supporting the concept of ‘PRIDE’, did 
not feel connected to it; 

(6) Comments made during the CPA refresh in February 2006, which 
highlighted confusion regarding ambition and core values and 
ambiguity concerning the word ‘Pride’; 

(7) Input from staff, managers and Members who were fully involved in 
the envisioning process; 

(8) The Plan would provide a reporting link between the council, 

 



5 

government, partners and the public; 
(9) The plan highlights performance measures and targets which could 

be used to assess the Council’s progress in meeting its aims and 
objectives; 

(10) Recommendations made by the Resources DSP. 
  
CO57. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY 

AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS. 
  

Councillor Mrs. Frances Cartwright: Portfolio – Housing Services and 
Organisational Development 
 

DECISION:    
 

That approval is given to accept the tender received from Swan 
Windows of Oadby, Leicestershire in the sum of £177,918.33 for the 
supply and fix of new PVCu windows to 104 properties in the District. 

 
[Decision made on 02.10.06] 

 
Councillor Terl Bryant: Portfolio – Resources & Assets 
 

DECISION: 
 
That approval is granted to obtain a copy of the Collaborative Planning 
module to integrate with the existing financial ledger system. 
 
[Decision made on 02.10.06] 
 
DECISION: 
 
That approval is granted to accept the tender submitted by Rilmac 
(Insulation) Ltd of Lincoln in the sum of £12,619.00 for the supply and 
installation of thermal pipe laggings and associated work to the Main 
Plant Room located at South Kesteven District Council Offices, 
Grantham. 
 
[Decision made on 02.10.06] 
 
DECISION: 
 
That approval is granted to use the appraisal, scoring and allocation of 
grant award as shown on the appendices attached to report PLA617. 
 
[Decision made on 02.10.06] 

 
Councillor John Smith: Portfolio – Economic Development 
 

DECISION:    
 

 



6 

That approval is granted that South Kesteven District Council offer the 
Welland Enterprise Agency a sum of £4,500 in 2006-2007 to provide a 
six stage Business Development Training Programme for the Deepings 
and southern area in South Kesteven.  The local Business Club, with 
support from the Town Centre Manager, will work to promote the 
programme and ensure its successful delivery to the target audience. 

 

[Decision made on 09.10.06] 

  
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

 
In accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, it was resolved that the public be excluded because of the likelihood 
in view of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 3 and 5 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended. With the 
press and public excluded, the following item was considered. 
 
CO58. BOURNE, SOUTH ROAD DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 
  

DECISION: 
 

1. That the Council withdraw from negotiations with the current 
development over the sale of land at South Road, Bourne; 

2. The Council receives advice from the District Valuer and the site 
is re-marketed for sale as roadside services with a stipulation 
that completion should occur before the 31st March 2007 or a 
reasonably agreed date with the new purchaser once marketed. 

 
Considerations/Reasons for Decision: 
 

(1) Exempt report number PLA618 by the Economic Development 
Portfolio Holder on the development of South Road, Bourne; 

(2) Recommendations from the Capital Asset Management Group; 
(3) The Council’s Category A priority on town centre redevelopment. 

 
Other options considered and assessed: 
 
To continue negotiations with Henry Davidson Developments Limited and enter 
into a co-operation agreement for twelve months. 

  
CO59. DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE 
  

Minute items CO54 and CO56 stand referred to the next ordinary meeting of 
the full Council on 26th October 2006. All other decisions as made on 9th 
October 2006 can be implemented on 18th October 2006, unless subject to call-
in by the Chairman of the relevant Development and Scrutiny Panel or five 
members of the Council. 
 

 



7 

  
 

South Kesteven District Council, Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham, 
Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ 
 
Contact: Cabinet Support Officer- Tel: 01476 406152   

e-mail j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

 



 1 

REPORT TO CABINET  

 
REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 
 
REPORT NO.: SD7 
 
DATE:  6TH NOVEMBER 2006 
 
 
 

 

TITLE: 
 
Update – 101 single non-emergency number partnership 
bid 

FORWARD PLAN 
ITEM: 

N/A 

DATE WHEN 
FIRST APPEARED 
IN FORWARD 
PLAN: 

N/A 

KEY DECISION  
OR POLICY 
FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL: 

 
N/A 

 
 

COUNCIL 
AIMS/PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER NAME 
AND DESIGNATION: 

 
Access 
Cllr Paul Carpenter – Technology Portfolio Holder 

CORPORATE 
PRIORITY: 

Access to services 
 

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Minor  
 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT 
IMPLICATIONS: 

 
N/A 

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT 

Carried out and appended to 
report? 

 
No 

Full impact assessment 
required? 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: 

Home Office Booklet - 101 Wave 2 Rolling out the service 
Nationally, March 2006 
Home Office Booklet – Introducing 101 
DOS306 – 101 Single Non-Emergency Number Possible 
Partnership Bid  

 

Agenda Item 4 



 2 

INTRODUCTION 
 
1.  DOS 306 advised the Cabinet in May of a possible partnership bid from Lincolnshire local 
authorities and police to the Home Office for implementation of 101, the single non-emergency 
number, in Wave 2 of the rollout. 
 
2.  The Cabinet supported a partnership bid.  This report updates the Cabinet on the progress 
of that bid. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.  The Cabinet notes the contents of the report and supports the implementation should the 
bid to the Home Office be successful. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
4.   The 101 Project (previously known as the Single Non-Emergency Number project) has 
been implemented by the Home Office to free up the 999 emergency service.  It was loosely 
based on New York’s 311 service.  The Home Office intend for the service to be nationwide by 
April 2008.  
 
5.   101 deals with community safety, including non-emergency crime, policing and anti-social 
behaviour issues.  These issues cover Police, County and District responsibilities.  Callers to 
the 101 phone number are connected to the service covering their part of the country.  When 
fully implemented the customer can use multiple channels – phone, web, e-mail and SMS.  
The 101 service is 24/7 (24 hours/ 7 days a week). 
 
6.    The Lincolnshire 101 Partnership, which has been formed by Lincolnshire Police, 
Lincolnshire County Council and all seven Districts and Boroughs, worked together to develop 
a realistically costed bid and implementation plan to deliver the 101 service.  The bid also 
covers the ongoing cost to run the 101 call centre, situated in the same building as 
Lincolnshire County Council’s contact centre.   The Home Office provided £100K for 
development of the bid. 
 
7.   The Service Areas covered by the 101 number are: 
 

� Vandalism, graffiti and other deliberate damage to property 
� Noisy neighbours or loud parties 
� Intimidation and harassment 
� Abandoned vehicles 
� Rubbish and litter, including fly tipping 
� People being drunk or rowdy in public places 
� Drug-related anti-social behaviour 
� Street lighting 

 
The 8 service headings cover in excess of 40 enquiry topics.  
 
CURRENT SITUATION 
 
8.  The Lincolnshire 101 Partnership have now submitted the bid to the Home Office following 
bid approval by the Lincolnshire Chief Executives and Chief Constable. 
 
9.  The total cost of the bid is some £1.8M.   This includes funding to cover the costs of: 
 

 



 3 

� Integration of the 101 enquiry system to the partner’s CRM system 
� Change management 
� Business Process re-engineering 
� Training 

    
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.   Should the bid be accepted by the Home Office, the 101 “In Service” date for Lincolnshire 
would be 31st July 2007.   By that time, SKDC (together with the other Local Authority partners 
and Lincolnshire Police) will need to have the procedures in place to meet the Home Office 
requirements for a 101 enquiry. 
 
11.   This will require some work in all the service areas affected, and commitment from 
Service Managers to move this forward.  This could affect how this authority provides and 
delivers the telephony aspect of those services. 
 
12.  Under present calculations, the hidden costs (report running, fault rectification, result 
chasing etc) of the 101 service has been estimated to be in the region of £12K per annum.  
This cost is spread over a number of service and support areas, and will be offset through 
process re-engineering, and improved customer access through a 24/7 telephony contact in 
the eight 101 service categories.    
 
BENEFITS 
 
13.   The 101 project has the potential to support the following:  
 

� Shared Service agenda 
� Customer Service and Access 
� Joined Up Service Approach 

 
14.   This project would support a strong shared service ethos within the County, especially in 
Customer Services, and will provide a 24/7 telephony service for customers with those 8 
service headings. 
 
COMMENTS OF CORPORATE HEAD OF FINANCE AND STRATEGIC RESOURCES 
 
15.  Any future financial implications in respect of this initiative for the Authority will need to be 
identified and incorporated into the budget setting process. 
 
COMMENTS OF SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL (MONITORING OFFICER)  
 
16.   No comment. 
 
CONTACT OFFICERS 
 
Jackie Mills – Business Management Partnership Project Officer 
Telephone: 01476 406200 
Email: j.mills@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
Ian Yates – Strategic Director  
Telephone: 01476 406201 
Email: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 



 1 

REPORT TO CABINET 

 
REPORT OF:  ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 

SERVICES PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
 
REPORT NO.:  HST10 
 
DATE:  6TH NOVEMBER 2006 
 
 
 

 

TITLE: 
 
Re-inspection of South Kesteven District Council’s Strategic 
Housing Service 

FORWARD PLAN 
ITEM: 

No 

DATE WHEN 
FIRST APPEARED 
IN FORWARD 
PLAN: 

N/A 

KEY DECISION  
OR POLICY 
FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL: 

N/A 
 

 
 

COUNCIL 
AIMS/PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER NAME 
AND DESIGNATION: 

 
Councillor Mrs. Frances Cartwright 
Organisational Development and Housing Services 
 

CORPORATE 
PRIORITY: 

 
Affordable Housing 
 

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Minor 
 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT 
IMPLICATIONS: 

Inspection report available on both the SKDC & Audit 
Commission’ websites 

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT 

Carried out and appended to 
report? 

 
Not applicable 

Full impact assessment 
required? 

 
No 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: 

 
Report DRS 15 to Cabinet 23 May 2005 and Council 26 May 2005  
 

 

Agenda Item 5 



 2 

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To inform members of the findings of the re-inspection of the Council’s Strategic 
Housing Services by the Audit Commission in July 2006.  
 
(A copy of the Audit Commission’s inspection report published in October 2006 is 
appended for information)   
 
 

2) RECOMMENDATION 
 

Cabinet members are requested to note the contents of this report and acknowledge 
the improvements identified by the inspection team. 

 
 
(3) DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 

Background 
 
The Council’s Strategic Housing Service was first inspected by the Audit Commission 
in February 2005 with the resultant inspection report published in May 2005.  The 
report detailed some 37 weaknesses, identified only 5 strengths and scored the service 
as Zero stars (Poor) with uncertain prospects for improvements.  
 
As a result of this report Council approved a wide ranging improvement programme in 
May 2005 containing, amongst other things: 
 

• A 90-point improvement plan for the strategic housing service (SHIP) 

• Extra capacity and resources to deliver both short term improvements and to 
ensure continued improvement  

• A programme of review to bring about improvement in the Council’s Housing 
Landlord Service  

 
Housing Service Restructure 
 
Following a full review the Council’s Strategic Housing Service and its Landlord 
Function became separate service sections on 5th December 2005. 
 

• The Strategic Housing service covering all the council’s responsibilities on private 
sector housing, affordable housing, homelessness & housing advice, strategy & 
enabling 

 

• The Landlord function embracing all services related to the council housing stock 
 

Strategic Housing Improvement Plan (SHIP) 
 
Work on delivering the improvement programme has continued over the past twelve 
months despite a number of difficulties with recruitment. From December 2005 to April 
2006 only 2 of the 4 senior posts in the Housing Solutions Team were filled; and in total 
only 9 out of 15 posts were occupied. 
 
There was inevitably some slight slippage on the improvement programme which was 
reported to members on a regular basis. 

 
Re-inspection July 2006  
 
The Audit Commission returned in July 2006 to carry out a re-inspection of the service.     

 



 3 

 
This time the report identified some 7 strengths and only 10 weaknesses.  The service 
was scored as One star (Fair) with promising prospects for improvement.  
 
This improved score represents a real step change. Audit Commission inspection 
methodology is continuously updated and the ability to show improvement,  and 
evidence economic, efficient and effective high quality local services to this 
independent watchdog becomes more challenging. 
 
The input of officers, especially in the housing solution team, and the contribution from 
councillors over last 18 months should be recognised.   
 
The six core recommendations on pages 9-12 of the report have been accepted and 
will be added to the on-going improvement plan for housing solutions.  

 
Summary  
 
Having achieved an improved score it is important to maintain this momentum on what 
is a Priority A service for the Council. Further reports therefore will be presented to 
members over the coming months embracing and reflecting the: 
 

• Current overall housing environment and the potential impact on the Council’s 
strategic housing service 

• Gateway review for housing solutions 

• Improvement plan and  

• Demand and delivery, on and against, the broader affordable housing agenda 
 
 
(4) COMMENTS OF THE CORPORATE HEAD OF FINANCE AND RESOURCES (SECTION 

151 OFFICER) 
 

No comments 
 
(5) COMMENTS OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 
  
 No comments 
 
(6) OFFICER CONTACT 
 
 Kevin Martin, Housing Solutions Manager 
 Telephone: 01476 406211 
 E-mail: k.martin@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 



Local Authority Housing Inspection Report 

October 2006 

Re-inspection of 
Strategic Housing 
Services

South Kesteven District Council 

 



© Audit Commission 2006 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212 Fax: 020 7976 6187 Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

The Audit Commission is an independent body responsible for ensuring that 
public money is spent economically, efficiently and effectively, to achieve
high-quality local services for the public. Our remit covers around 11,000 bodies 
in England, which between them spend more than £180 billion of public money 
each year. Our work covers local government, health, housing, community safety 
and fire and rescue services. 

As an independent watchdog, we provide important information on the quality of 
public services. As a driving force for improvement in those services, we provide 
practical recommendations and spread best practice. As an independent auditor, 
we ensure that public services are good value for money and that public money is 
properly spent. 

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0845 056 0566.

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Contents 3

South Kesteven District Council 

Contents

Local Authority Housing Inspections 4

Summary 5

Scoring the service 6

Recommendations 9

Report 13

Context 13

The locality 13

The Council 13

The service 14

How good is the service? 15

What has the service aimed to achieve? 15

Is the service meeting the needs of the local community and users? 16

Access and customer care 16

Diversity 19

Housing Strategy and enabling 23

Homelessness and housing needs 27

Private sector housing 32

Is the service delivering value for money? 37

How do costs compare? 37

How is value for money managed? 38

Summary 39

What are the prospects for improvement to the service? 41

What is the service track record in delivering improvement? 41

How well does the service manage performance? 42

Does the service have the capacity to improve? 45

Summary 48

Appendix 1 – Performance indicators 49

Appendix 2 – Documents reviewed 50

Appendix 3 – Reality checks undertaken 51

Appendix 4 – Positive practice 52

 



4 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Local Authority Housing 
Inspections 

South Kesteven District Council 

Local Authority Housing Inspections 
The Audit Commission is an independent body responsible for ensuring that 
public money is spent economically, efficiently and effectively and delivers high 
quality local services for the public.

Within the Audit Commission, the Housing Inspectorate inspects and monitors the 
performance of a number of bodies and services. These include local authority 
housing departments, local authorities administering Supporting People 
programmes, arms length management organisations and housing associations. 
Our key lines of enquiry (KLOEs) set out the main issues which we consider 
when forming our judgements on the quality of services. The KLOEs can be 
found on the Audit Commission’s website at  
www.audit-commission.gov.uk/housing.  

This inspection has been carried out by the Housing Inspectorate using powers 
under section 10 of the Local Government Act 1999 and is in line with the Audit 
Commission’s strategic regulation principles. In broad terms, these principles look 
to  minimise the burden of regulation while maximising its impact. To meet these 
principles this inspection: 

is proportionate to risk and the performance of the Council; 

judges the quality of the service for service users and the value for money of 
the service; 

promotes further improvements in the service; and 

has cost no more than is necessary to safeguard the public interest. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Summary 5

South Kesteven District Council 

Summary
1 South Kesteven District Council is in South West Lincolnshire, in the east of 

England. The population of the area is 127,700 of which 1.6 per cent are from 
minority ethnic communities. On the index of multiple deprivation for all districts, 
South Kesteven ranks at 256 of 354 local authorities in England. 

2 The Council comprises 58 councillors with the Conservatives in overall control. It 
employs over 600 staff across all services. 

3 The Strategic Housing Services inspection covered strategy and enabling, 
homelessness and housing needs and private sector housing. The revenue 
budget for delivering the service is £655,000 for 2006/07 and there is a capital 
budget of £350,000 for grants in the private sector. 

 



6 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Scoring the service 

South Kesteven District Council 

Scoring the service 
4 We have assessed South Kesteven District Council as providing a ‘fair’ one-star 

service that has promising prospects for improvement. Our judgements are based 
on the evidence obtained during the inspection and are outlined below. 

Figure 1 Scoring chart1

Prospects for improvement? 

Excellent     

Promising

Uncertain     

Poor     

A good 
service?

 Poor Fair Good Excellent

‘a fair service that has 
promising prospects for 

improvement’

Source: Audit Commission 

1
 The scoring chart displays performance in two dimensions. The horizontal axis shows how good the service or 

function is now, on a scale ranging from no stars for a service that is poor (at the left-hand end) to three stars 
for an excellent service (right-hand end). The vertical axis shows the improvement prospects of the service, 
also on a four-point scale. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Scoring the service 7

South Kesteven District Council 

5 We have assessed the Strategic Housing Service as fair because: 

access to services is focused on meeting customers' requirements and is 
supported by a range of informative and easy to read leaflets; 

there is a sound strategic approach to diversity with effective partnership work 
to identify and improve services to meet diverse needs; 

the Housing Strategy is comprehensive setting out clear priorities for the 
Service;

the Council is working well in partnership to deliver creditable levels of 
affordable housing; 

there is effective partnership working around preventing homelessness and 
meeting the needs of vulnerable households; 

temporary accommodation for homeless households is of a good standard 
and limited use is made of bed and breakfast; and 

the Council ensures that resources are aligned to delivering priorities.

6 However, a number of areas require improvement. 

Information on the services available is not comprehensive or consistently 
available, and customer feedback is not informing service development and 
improvement.

The information on the customer profile is limited, and monitoring of services 
by diversity is not effectively used to identify service improvements or to 
demonstrate that services are delivered equitably. 

Services are not systematically tailored to meet the needs of vulnerable 
customers.

Homelessness prevention work is under developed and the arrangements for 
homeless households to access permanent secure tenancies through the 
Allocations Scheme are not satisfactory. 

There is limited analysis of homelessness trends to inform service 
improvement and the impact of partnership working is not captured and 
evaluated. 

The Council's strategic approach to private sector housing is under 
developed, there has been limited action to improve private sector stock 
condition or to bring empty properties back into use, and enforcement 
activities are largely reactive. 

Applicants for disabled facilities grants have received an inconsistent service 
subject to delays. 

 



8 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Scoring the service 

South Kesteven District Council 

The mandatory licensing scheme for Houses in Multiple Occupation is not 
fully implemented. 

The Council cannot demonstrate value for money in delivering its strategic 
housing services. It does not know the detailed costs of providing its services 
and there has not been any benchmarking of costs. 

Procurement is not yet embedded as a means of delivering value for money. 

7 The Council has promising prospects for improvement because: 

the Council has clear priorities for the Housing Service; 

significant improvements have been delivered in some service areas; 

there is a robust system for monitoring and managing performance; 

the Council is responsive to external challenge and actively seeks to learn 
from others; 

the Council has the capacity and financial resources to deliver improved 
services;

partnership working is used to increase the capacity to deliver services; and 

the Council has successfully attracted external resources to support service 
improvements.

8 However, we identified the following barriers to improvement. 

Progress in delivering improvements in some areas has been limited. 

Performance is not improving across all service areas. 

Some service weaknesses are not adequately addressed by improvement 
plans.

Performance indicators are not sufficiently targeted to effectively manage all 
areas of performance. 

Partnerships have not been evaluated to assess the added value they bring. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Recommendations 9

South Kesteven District Council 

Recommendations
9 To rise to the challenge of continuous improvement, organisations need 

inspection reports that offer practical pointers for improvement. Our 
recommendations identify the expected benefits for both local people and the 
organisation. In addition, we identify the approximate costs2 and indicate the 
priority we place on each recommendation and key dates for delivering these 
where they are considered appropriate. In this context, the inspection team 
recommends that the Council shares the findings of this report with tenants and 
councillors and addresses all weaknesses identified in the report. The inspection 
team makes the following recommendations. 

Recommendation

R1 Strengthen the focus on customers by: 

ensuring that comprehensive information for all services is consistently 
available to customers; 

using feedback from customers to develop and improve services; 

continuing to build up information on the customer profile,  
cross-referencing it with other sources, and making it readily available to 
all staff; 

using the monitoring of services by diversity to demonstrate that services 
are delivered equitably and identify service improvements; and 

using the information collected on user's diverse needs to develop 
systematic tailoring of services to meet these.

The expected benefits of this recommendation are: 

to give customers clear expectations about the services they receive;

to allow services to respond more effectively to customer needs; 

to ensure services are provided equitably and sensitively and in response to 
known needs; and 

to improve customer satisfaction. 

The implementation of this recommendation will have high impact with low costs. 
This should be implemented by March 2007. 

2
  Low cost is defined as less than 1 per cent of the annual service cost, medium cost is between 1 and 5 per cent 

and high costs is over 5 per cent.  

 



10 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Recommendations

South Kesteven District Council 

Recommendation

R2 Strengthen the homelessness and housing needs service by: 

reviewing the Allocations Scheme as a matter of urgency to ensure that 
homeless households, owed a duty by the Council, can properly and 
equitably access permanent accommodation as secure tenants; 

increasing homelessness prevention work and maximising the outcomes 
from partnership working; and 

monitoring and analysing homelessness trends to inform service 
development.

The expected benefits of this recommendation are: 

to ensure that homeless households can access secure accommodation on 
an equitable basis, which is clear and transparent, and in accordance with the 
relevant Codes of Guidance;

to increase the prevention of homelessness through improved levels of advice 
and assistance; and 

to respond effectively to any changes in housing needs and homelessness. 

The implementation of this recommendation will have high impact with low costs. 
This should be implemented by March 2007. 

Recommendation

R3 Strengthen the private sector housing service by: 

providing a strategic framework for delivering the service through the 
development of the Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy; 

addressing non-decency in the private sector, ensuring that all available 
resources are spent and targeted appropriately at the most vulnerable 
households; 

developing a proactive approach to enforcement activities, including 
identifying and inspecting HMOs; 

developing a strategic approach, and taking action to bring empty 
properties back into use; and 

delivering a customer focused, consistent and timely service to 
applicants requiring disabled facilities grants, with clear information 
available about the level of service that can be expected.

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Recommendations 11

South Kesteven District Council 

The expected benefits of this recommendation are: 

to deliver private sector housing services in a co-ordinated way; 

to make best use of resources to assist vulnerable households;

to give landlords and private rented tenants clearer expectations about the 
Council's role in private sector housing; 

to make more homes available to meet housing needs in the district; and 

to allow customers applying for disabled facilities grants to be aware of the 
service they should receive.

The implementation of this recommendation will have high impact with low costs. 
This should be implemented by December 2006. 

Recommendation

R4 Improve value for money and integrate it into working practices by: 

systematically collecting and analysing the costs of delivering services; 

comparing the costs and quality of services with others; and 

embedding procurement as a means of achieving value for money.

The expected benefits of this recommendation are: 

to make more effective use of resources and demonstrate how services 
deliver value for money. 

The implementation of this recommendation will have high impact with low costs. 
This should be implemented by March 2007. 

Recommendation

R5 Strengthen improvement planning and performance management by:  

ensuring that improvement actions are identified that tackle all areas of 
weaknesses; and 

assessing the local performance indicators collected, revising or 
introducing new ones as appropriate, so that critical areas of success are 
measured in all service areas.

The expected benefits of this recommendation are: 

 to improve all areas of service; and 

 to manage performance more effectively.  

The implementation of this recommendation will have high impact with low costs. 
This should be implemented by December 2006. 

 



12 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Recommendations

South Kesteven District Council 

Recommendation

R6 Maximise the additional capacity brought by partnership working by: 

evaluating the added value brought by working with partners and 
identifying where improvements can be made. 

The expected benefits of this recommendation are: 

to effectively target the Council's own resources in supporting partnership 
work, and to identify ways of increasing outcomes for customers. 

The implementation of this recommendation will have high impact with low costs. 
This should be implemented by March 2007. 

10 We would like to thank the staff of South Kesteven District Council who made us 
welcome and who met our requests efficiently and courteously. 

Dates of inspection: 17 July to 21 July 2006. 

Regional contact details 

Audit Commission 

1st Floor 

Bridge Business Park 

Bridge Park Road 

Thurmaston

Leicester LE4 8BL 

Telephone: 0116 269 3311 

Fax: 0116 269 4422 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk/housing 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Report 13

South Kesteven District Council 

Report

Context

The locality 

11 South Kesteven is in South West Lincolnshire, in the east of England. It is a large 
rural area with four main towns and over 80 villages. The population of the area is 
127,700 of which 70 per cent live in the towns.1.6 per cent of the population are 
from minority ethnic communities. The predominant group is the established 
Chinese community, although there is also a growing population of residents from 
some European countries, for example Portugal and the Baltic States. 

12 Unemployment stands at 2.1 per cent at March 2006 compared with the national 
average of 3.1 per cent. The average gross weekly pay in South Kesteven is 
£429.80 which is below the English average of £518.70. Within the district, the 
principal sources of employment are the public sector, agriculture, engineering, 
manufacturing, haulage and storage, service industries and food 
processing/packaging, although many residents commute from the district to the 
nearby cities of Nottingham and Peterborough. 

13 On the index of multiple deprivation for all districts, South Kesteven ranks at
256 of 354 local authorities in England. Of its 34 wards, one ranks amongst the 
10 per cent most deprived wards in the country and six wards are in the  
10 per cent least deprived. There are pockets of rural deprivation, especially 
towards the east of the district in the fenland region. 

The Council 

14 The Council comprises 58 councillors. The Conservatives have overall control 
with 34 seats. Currently, a Leader and cabinet of six councillors govern the 
business of the Council. 

15 The political structure is supported at officer level through the Chief Executive, 
three Strategic Directors and five Corporate Heads of Service. These 
arrangements are following a recent restructure and at the time of inspection a 
number of these posts were still to be appointed to. 

16 The Council employs over 600 staff and its overall General Fund budget for the 
year 2006/07 is £14.455 million. General fund reserves were £4.657 million with a 
balance of £3.099 million. The Housing Revenue Account budget is about  
£34 million with reserves of over £9 million and balances of over £4 million.  

 



14 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Report

South Kesteven District Council 

The service 

17 The Strategic Housing Service is responsible for: 

housing strategy and enabling the provision of affordable housing; 

homelessness and housing needs; and 

private sector housing. 

The services are delivered by the Housing Solutions Team, which is part of the 
Sustainable Communities Division. The revenue budget for delivering the service 
is £655,000 for 2006/07 and there is a capital budget of £350,000 for grants in the 
private sector. 

18 There are about 55,000 households in the district. 76 per cent of these are owner 
occupied, 12 percent are rented from the Council, 2 per cent are rented from 
Registered Social Landlords and 10 per cent are privately rented. 70 per cent of 
stock has been built since 1945 and a recent stock condition survey suggests that 
80 per cent of private homes meet the Decent Homes Standard. It also shows 
that 23 per cent of vulnerable households live in non-decent properties. Unfitness 
levels are at 2.7 per cent which is below the national average with unfitness 
concentrated in the private rented sector, pre-1919 properties and converted 
flats.

19 Demand for affordable housing is high. There were 2,800 applicants on the 
Housing Register at March 2006. House prices are rising faster than national and 
regional averages. The proposed Lincolnshire Structure Plan allocates provision 
for 9,200 properties in South Kesteven for the period 2001/21. The housing 
needs survey in 2005 identified that 646 new affordable homes were required 
annually to meet housing need in the district. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 15

South Kesteven District Council 

How good is the service? 

What has the service aimed to achieve? 

20 The Council's vision is: 

'To ensure that the residents of South Kesteven are proud of their 
district and their council.’ 

This is underpinned by five core values: 

performing by resourcing and delivering the Council's priorities; 

respecting all residents and their particular needs; 

informing all residents and enabling them to become involved; 

developing our communities; and 

enabling staff to unlock their full potential. 

21 The Council has identified four ambitions to deliver its vision and against which 
priorities for investment are assessed: 

community safety; 

economic development; 

healthy environment; and 

community engagement. 

22 The Housing Strategy 2005/09 sets out three priorities for housing. These are: 

affordable homes within sustainable communities; 

prevention of homelessness and the promotion of choice; and 

delivering decent homes in the public and private sectors. 

23 The Council has set its ambitions in line with the priorities agreed between central 
and local government, and within the context of the agreed local priorities for the 
district as developed through the Community Plan. The Housing Strategy 
priorities support the delivery of the Council's ambitions and clearly reflect the 
national priorities for housing.

 



16 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

Is the service meeting the needs of the local 
community and users? 

Access and customer care 

24 In our previous inspection we found that weaknesses outweighed strengths. 
There were no clear service standards in place and limited ways of assessing 
customer satisfaction and obtaining feedback. There was little customer 
involvement in the service. However, the Council provided reasonable access for 
service users and a clear complaints procedure was consistently applied. 

25 In this inspection we found a balance of strengths and weaknesses. Access to 
services is a high priority of the Council with investment resulting in improved 
levels of corporate access. Access to the services provided by Housing Solutions 
is geared to meet customers' requirements and attractive leaflets and information 
on most services have been introduced. Corporate service standards for access 
and some service standards for Housing Solutions are in place and satisfaction 
surveys are being carried out. However, information on the services is not 
comprehensive or consistently available, there is little service user involvement in 
developing services and standards, and monitoring of the standards for Housing 
Solutions to assess performance has only just started. Satisfaction surveys are 
not analysed to inform service development and improvement.

26 Access to services is a high priority of the Council and a strategic approach has 
been developed through the corporate access and modernisation agenda. This is 
resulting in major investment in the service to deliver improved, and customer 
focused, reception facilities in Grantham, with modern telephone answering 
services, supported by the development of a customer relationship management 
system (CRM). 

27 Access to the service in person is made as easy as possible through four well 
located offices throughout the district. The main offices at Grantham are 
supported by three area housing offices at Stamford, Bourne and Market 
Deeping. Housing services can be accessed from all these offices and there is a 
housing options officer working from the Bourne office providing the service for 
the Eastern part of the district. Appointments are offered for homelessness 
interviews at any office and home visits are available for those who are unable to 
attend one of the offices. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 17

South Kesteven District Council 

28 The offices provide a welcoming environment for customers, are accessible for 
wheelchairs and parents with pushchairs and have minicom/loop systems 
available for the hard of hearing. The Council has assessed that they meet the 
Disability Discrimination Act (DDA). The Grantham office was undergoing major 
refurbishment at the time of inspection with a new customer services reception 
nearing completion. The design and facilities which will be on offer are to a high 
standard. The remaining offices have satisfactory facilities but are not well signed 
from the outside. A range of leaflets were on display but were not consistently 
provided and varied from office to office. The complaints leaflets were not on 
display but were available when asked for. This inconsistency in the provision of 
information means that customers visiting the offices experience different levels 
of service.

29 Telephone access is readily available through the Council's call centre, although 
direct line numbers are also available. The short messaging service for 
customers with mobile phones has been introduced and has been successful as 
a means of contact. The Council is part way through rolling out its CRM system 
with some services now benefiting from this. The Housing Solutions Service is 
not yet part of the system. The aim is to satisfactorily deal with 80 per cent of 
enquiries at the first point of contact. Performance is currently around 35 per cent. 
To improve access to the homelessness service the Council has introduced a 
homelessness duty officer sitting in the customer service team. This allows 
telephone callers and customers visiting the office to be quickly referred and their 
enquiries dealt with in an appropriate way. 

30 Arrangements for the homelessness out-of-hours service work effectively. Calls 
are initially taken by the Care Centre and referred to a homelessness duty officer 
who takes appropriate action and arranges temporary accommodation where 
necessary. However, the out-of-hours emergency number is not clearly displayed 
outside all of the offices, which limits access to the service.  

31 Access to services for customers who do not have English as their first language 
is satisfactory. Language Line is available, although this is not consistently 
advertised in all the offices, and usage of the service is limited. Access has 
recently been enhanced by the introduction of a county-wide initiative called 'Talk 
Back'. This provides direct access to a telephone answering service in a number 
of languages. The service makes arrangements on behalf of the customer to 
access the required service from the relevant council.  

32 Customer care training has not been comprehensive throughout the organisation. 
Service sections can request or arrange customer care training and the Council 
corporately is a member of the Institute of Customer Services. However, there is 
not a corporate approach to ensuring that all staff have customer care training 
appropriate to their position within the organisation. 

 



18 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

33 There are appropriate corporate service standards for access to services which 
are monitored. Response times for telephone calls, letters and emails are 
monitored on an ongoing basis and other standards are monitored through 
mystery shopping exercises. For the first quarter of 2006/07 performance for the 
Housing Solutions Service was strong with 94 per cent achieved for letters,
100 per cent for emails and 99.6 per cent of appointments made and kept. A 
similar level of performance was achieved for the last two quarters of 2005/06 
when the new team was established. Telephone answering within response times 
on a corporate basis is also strong. 

34 There are a range of informative and attractive leaflets for the Housing Solutions 
Service, but these do not cover all aspects of the services offered, and there has 
been little involvement of service users in their development. There are leaflets 
on the housing advice and homelessness service, and also for private rented 
tenants and landlords. Service standards have also been developed but these 
relate mainly to the housing advice and homelessness service, and monitoring 
performance against these has only just started. There is no information available 
on private sector grants for disabled adaptations or improving private sector 
stock, and no promotion of this service. Service users have not been effectively 
engaged in identifying information needs or the service standards they can 
expect. However, the leaflets that are in place are easy to read and are 
attractively designed in accordance with corporate branding. The leaflets include 
straplines to inform customers that they can be offered in the community 
languages and in other formats. 

35 The website is comprehensive and fairly easy to navigate. There is an option to 
have each page read out or to have in translated into a number of languages, 
although the availability of these options is in small print and could be missed by 
customers.

36 The use of customer surveys is not comprehensive and there is limited analysis 
to inform service improvement. Customer surveys are carried out in a number of 
areas but their effectiveness is hindered by low response rates and they are not 
always capturing the most useful information on which to assess the service. A 
quarterly homelessness survey was recently carried out. 124 surveys were sent 
out resulting in a 21 per cent response rate. This showed that applicants were 
generally satisfied with the service offered. It also highlighted that applicants with 
a disability were more likely to say that they waited too long for their application to 
be determined. However, the survey information did not allow for this to be drilled 
down to enable a better understanding of the issues. A survey is also carried out 
following disabled facilities work. This results in fairly high response rates but is 
based mainly around the quality of the work and does not pick up some of the 
broader issues. The results from these are recorded and individual areas of 
concern addressed but they are not being used to identify service improvements. 
Surveys in private sector enforcement work are not being consistently carried out 
and are not monitored with the purpose of improving services. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 19

South Kesteven District Council 

37 The Council is active in seeking to improve customer feedback as a result of 
learning from its survey work. New surveys have been developed for the housing 
advice and homelessness service based on a three staged approach, each 
aimed at gathering different levels of information covering access, customer care 
and satisfaction with service standards. These surveys started in July and the 
results will be analysed on a quarterly basis and used to inform service 
development.

38 There is a sound corporate complaints procedure which operates effectively. 
Where customers are not satisfied with the outcome following a complaint there is 
an escalation procedure to ensure that a comprehensive and proper investigation 
takes place. The complaints system asks officers to identify any policy or 
procedural changes that may be needed to ensure that learning from complaints 
is encouraged. Complaints are recorded and monitored centrally. However, 
performance is not currently reported to Members, although this is planned with 
effect from August along with performance against service standards. 

39 Three complaints have been received in Housing Solutions since January and all 
were responded to within the set timescales. The complainants received full 
explanations which addressed the issues raised. Satisfaction surveys are sent 
out to complainants on a quarterly basis but these are not being collated, 
analysed and reported on.

Diversity 

40 In our previous inspection we found few strengths in this area. There was lack of 
awareness in identifying and addressing the needs of diverse groups, with no 
systematic gathering of information and no consistent approach to ensuring that 
access to services was equitable. 

41 In this inspection we found a balance of strengths and weaknesses. The 
information on the customer profile, although increasing, remains limited. The 
monitoring of services by diversity is not effectively used to identify service 
improvement or to demonstrate that services are delivered equitably. Services 
are not systematically tailored to meet the needs of vulnerable customers. 
However, there is a sound strategic approach to diversity supported by 
arrangements to deliver operational improvements, and the Council has 
progressed to level 2 of the Equalities Standard. There is effective partnership 
working to identify diverse needs and improve services.

 



20 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

42 Information on the customer profile is limited but the Council is taking action to 
build this up. Information on diverse needs in relation to age, gender, ethnicity 
and disability, is being gathered through the CRM system when customers 
contact the Council. At the time of inspection information had been gathered on 
about 12 per cent of the population through this process. The introduction of the 
monitoring was advertised in the press explaining why these questions are being 
asked, and if customers refuse to answer the questions a follow-up letter with the 
survey questions is sent. This explains the reasons why the information is needed 
and asks the customer to complete and return the survey form. In addition, the 
questions were sent out with the concessionary travel card scheme which 
resulted in a good response rate. However, this information has not yet been 
added to the CRM data base. 

43 Information on diverse needs is collected for most, but not all, of the services 
provided by Housing Solutions but this is not being systematically monitored and 
used to inform service development and improvement. The Housing Needs 
Survey gathered useful information at a general level across the district. Diversity 
information is collected for applicants registering on the Housing Register, 
seeking housing advice and applying as homeless. Satisfaction surveys also 
capture diversity information. However, diversity information is not collected on 
service users in private sector grants and enforcement activities. The information 
that is available on diverse needs is not currently cross-referenced with, or added 
to the CRM data base. The lack of co-ordination and analysis of the information 
collected limits the Council's ability to develop services to respond to particular 
needs and means that it cannot demonstrate that services are provided equitably.

44 The Council is carrying out Equalities Impact Assessments to assess whether its 
services are meeting diverse needs and are provided equitably, but the 
effectiveness of these is hindered by the lack of detailed information on the 
customer profile. Training on carrying out the assessments has been delivered to 
responsible managers and guidance issued. Targets have been set to carry out 
impact assessments on both existing and new policies and strategies, with the 
aim of completing these by December 2007 in order to assist in reaching Level 3 
of the Equalities Standard. An initial impact assessment has been carried out for 
the Housing Strategy, which determined that a further detailed assessment is 
required. The initial assessment highlighted the difficulties with the lack of 
comprehensive information, and recognises that this needs to be increased 
before the next stage of the assessment takes place. This approach, although not 
delivering tangible outcomes at present, is developing the foundations which will 
assist in demonstrating whether services are being delivered equitably, provide 
sound information on which to develop service improvements and enable 
services to be tailored to meet diverse needs.  

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 21

South Kesteven District Council 

45 The Council does not tailor its services to meet diverse needs in a systematic 
way but there are some examples of it responding to the needs of vulnerable 
tenants. Assistance is given to vulnerable customers to complete disabled 
facilities grant applications, although limited staff resources has meant that this 
has not been consistently offered. Arrangements are made to take interpreters on 
home visits where this is needed. Arrangements are also in place to give extra 
support to young people and guide them through the process should they present 
as homeless.  

46 The Council has developed a sound strategic approach to diversity across the 
organisation through its Generic Equalities Scheme. This was revised and 
approved in March 2005 and sets the strategic framework for developing the 
service with an action plan to achieve the various levels of the Equalities 
Standard in Local Government. The Council assessed itself as achieving Level 2 
of the Standard in March 2006 and obtained an external view from DIALOG to 
this effect. A target date of December 2007 has been set for achieving Level 3. 
The Generic Equalities Scheme is scheduled for review later this year as part of 
ensuring compliance with the Disability Equality Duty which comes into force in 
December 2006. 

47 The work on diversity has recently been strengthened by the establishment of the 
Equalities and Diversity Steering Group made up of representatives from 
Members, Strategic Directors and Corporate Heads of Service. Staff 
representatives from the black and minority ethnic (BME) communities are also 
invited to sit on the group, although there is only one staff member currently. The 
group is responsible for the strategic direction of the organisation. The 
implementation of the strategy is through the Equalities Performance 
Management Group which focuses on operational issues and would determine 
for example, how monitoring is introduced and carried out. 

48 A Diversity Champion has been appointed at a Member level whose role is to 
provide an overview, and ensure that all parts of the organisation are progressing 
in this area of work. Equality and Diversity work is monitored by the Engagement 
Development and Scrutiny Panel who assess progress against the Generic 
Equalities Scheme and receive the minutes of the various groups tasked with 
taking the agenda forward. 

49 Diversity is not fully embedded throughout the organisation as a way of working, 
but action is being taken to address this. Mandatory equalities awareness training 
started in November 2005 and most staff have now completed this. The training 
is also provided for Members and any Member who wishes to sit on the 
Development and Scrutiny Panels must have undertaken it. The training is 
evaluated and the feedback has been positive. However, ways of assessing the 
impact on customers as a result of increasing awareness and embedding 
diversity are not in place. 

50 The workforce is not representative of the communities it serves with 0.9 per cent 
from BME communities. Targets have been set to increase the percentage and 
adverts for vacancies are placed in publications and areas which may attract 
applicants from particular communities. 

 



22 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

51 The Council has developed initiatives to try and engage with under represented 
groups in the community, but has had limited success in involving them in 
identifying their service needs and developing services accordingly. Local Forums 
which meet across the district encourage attendance from under represented 
groups but with limited success, although attendance at meetings is growing. 
Some work to engage with young people has been carried out through the 
'YELLS' scheme but there have been limited outcomes. However, a youth 
representative sits on one of the Local Forums. There has been limited work with 
disability groups and the Council is now considering county-wide consultation 
exercises using government funding. A data base of agencies who work with 
under represented groups has been established county-wide through a project 
funded by the DCLG for capacity building which will assist in developing work in 
this area.

52 There is effective partnership working to take forward diversity issues in the 
district through the Multi Cultural Forum. This was set up in May 2005 and is 
attended by statutory and voluntary agencies including the Police, the Primary 
Care trust, the CAB and community workers. It has not been possible to involve 
representatives from community groups and the Forum has, therefore, focused 
on identifying ways of engaging with the various communities. This has included 
council officers attending the local college when English speaking classes are 
being run to explain the services that the Council can offer and to listen to the 
concerns of the communities. The high proportion of Portuguese people settling 
in the area was identified through these means. A poster explaining the Council's 
services was produced and distributed with a number to contact for any enquiries. 
This had a good response which enabled the Council to identify the most 
commonly used languages, which the poster was then translated into and 
distributed to appropriate venues including the two Portuguese cafes in 
Grantham.

53 The Multi Cultural Forum was also involved in developing the hate incident 
reporting procedure and is currently exploring ways of increasing the information 
on migrant workers in the area. The Council is exploring joining with other 
councils to carry out survey work. A representative from the Gangmasters 
Licensing Authority recently attended a Forum meeting, which was extended to 
Members and other parts of the Council, to talk about issues relating to migrant 
workers. Opportunities for information sharing have been identified, particularly in 
relation to where migrant workers live, as many occupy Houses in Multiple 
Occupation which may not be known to the Council. 

54 The Council works in partnership to address domestic violence and hate 
incidents. Work to raise the profile of domestic violence has been carried out 
through a forum run by the Crime Reduction and Disorder Partnership, and 
through leaflets developed through the Kesteven Forum on domestic violence. 
Victims of domestic violence who approach the Council for help are offered 
different housing options according to their circumstances and wishes. However, 
information on the level of incidents is limited as the figures kept by the Police are 
for all violent crime and the Council does not collect figures across services.  

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 23

South Kesteven District Council 

55 A hate incident policy has been developed and complaints are investigated jointly 
with the Police where the complainant is happy with this. The policy and reporting 
forms are available on the Council's website. Six cases have been reported to the 
Community Safety team since April 2006 when monitoring began. However, there 
are no common monitoring procedures with partners which means the Council 
cannot be clear on the overall level of incidents. 

56 There has been positive work around Gypsy and Travellers' issues. A specific 
part of the Housing Needs Survey in 2005 identified the housing needs of this 
group. This showed that more permanent and transitional pitches are required 
and the Council is now seeking suitable sites for possible provision. 
Consideration is also being given to joint funding a post on a county-wide basis 
so that a co-ordinated approach can be adopted.

Housing Strategy and enabling 

57 In our previous inspection we found that weaknesses outweighed strengths. The 
housing strategy was under developed and the Council lacked robust information 
about housing needs and stock condition. There was poor performance in 
delivering affordable homes.  

58 In this inspection we found that strengths outweigh weaknesses. The strategic 
approach to housing has been strengthened based on sound information around 
housing needs and stock condition. The Housing Strategy has been assessed as 
Fit for Purpose. The Council is now delivering creditable levels of affordable 
housing and has arrangements to secure affordable homes in the future. 
However, there has been less progress in delivering affordable homes in rural 
areas, and the provision of supported housing needs is not part of a co-ordinated 
framework.

59 The Housing Strategy has been assessed as Fit for Purpose by the Government 
Office for the East Midlands and is providing the strategic framework for the 
service. The Housing Strategy sets clear priorities, reflecting both national and 
local priorities, identifies the resources needed to deliver the priorities, and has an 
action plan to show how these will be delivered. 

60 The Housing Strategy has been developed over the last year by the Council with 
external consultancy support. There was extensive consultation with partners and 
stakeholders on the strategy through a series of forums and events, including 
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs), landlords in the private sector and parish 
councils. There were articles in the residents' newsletter and information and a 
questionnaire on the Council's website. The consultation exercises showed broad 
agreement for the priorities in the Housing Strategy and in particular the need for 
more affordable housing. 

 



24 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

61 The Council has a sound information base about housing needs and stock 
condition which informs the development of its strategic approach. A Housing 
Needs Study and Private Sector Stock Condition Survey were carried out in 
2005, and the information gathered through these underpins the Housing 
Strategy. Arrangements to keep the information up-to-date have been 
strengthened by additional research capacity in the Housing Solution Team, 
which is allowing analysis of other sources of needs information such as the 
Housing Register and the Land Registry records. Housing market analysis is 
planned and the Council is contributing to funding to carry out needs assessment 
with neighbouring councils in the Peterborough housing market area.

62 The information on housing needs in rural areas is not comprehensive. The 
housing needs survey provided some information at a parish level. A parish 
housing needs survey has been carried out in one of the larger villages by an 
RSL, and the Council is assisting two parishes with their parish plans in relation 
to affordable housing needs. However, as rural housing needs are often hidden, 
the lack of detailed information limits to ability of the Council to direct and 
prioritise schemes.

63 The Council is working in partnership to deliver its strategic housing priorities. 
Housing, and in particular the provision of affordable housing, is a key priority of 
the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) and the Community Strategy. A Housing 
Implementation Group has been set up as a sub-group of the LSP to deliver its 
housing priorities. The group, which includes RSLs, private developers, resident 
association representatives, Social Services and other agencies, is currently 
focused at a strategic level on delivering affordable housing and increasing the 
level of floating support in the area. 

64 The Council has been a member of the Welland Partnership for a number of 
years, which has partnership arrangements across a range of council services. 
Joint working through this resulted in the shared private sector renewal strategy 
and also the development of a Section 106 Protocol for affordable housing. More 
recently the Council has joined in the partnership arrangements for the County 
and is now active in the Lincolnshire Housing Forum and a number of its
sub-groups. This has also enabled access to a number of joint funding initiatives, 
for example around homelessness prevention.

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 25

South Kesteven District Council 

65 The Council has a clear commitment to the provision of affordable housing, and 
increasing numbers of affordable homes are being delivered. In 2005 it agreed 
affordable housing as a Priority A, which means that significant investment is 
required to achieve step change. Additional capacity for the enabling role was 
created through a dedicated post, as part of the restructuring for strategic housing 
services. Resources to support the delivery of affordable housing have been 
increased by the provision of Council owned land to RSL partners at nil cost. A 
commitment has been given that 50 per cent of the net capital receipt will be used 
for affordable housing should the large scale voluntary transfer of the stock 
proceed. The remaining 50 per cent will be used for sustaining communities work. 
Receipts from Right to Buy sales of the Council's stock are ring fenced for 
housing purposes and have historically been used to invest in the maintenance of 
the stock. These are currently being held and their use will be determined when 
the outcome of the stock transfer decision is known.

66 Resources for affordable housing have also been increased through successful 
bids for funding through the Approved Development programme (ADP). For 2006 
to 2008, £6.6 million was awarded which will deliver 156 new affordable homes, 
including an extra care scheme of 34 flats.

67 The Council is successfully using Section 106 Agreements to deliver affordable 
homes. The current planning requirement on developments is for 31 per cent 
affordable housing on sites of 25 dwellings or more. This is based on the findings 
of the previous housing needs survey. The housing needs survey carried out in 
2005 identified that 646 affordable homes were needed each year to meet 
housing needs in the district. Based on this the current proposals, as part of 
developing the Local Development Framework, is for 50 per cent affordable 
housing on sites of 15 or more dwellings in urban areas and two or more in rural 
areas. These proposals are currently out for consultation as part of the planning 
process.

68 In 2005/06 the Council achieved 24 per cent affordable housing on sites eligible 
for Section 106 Agreements, which is an improvement on previous years. 
Historically the Council has not actively pursued Section 106 Agreements as a 
means of delivering affordable housing, and previous developments and some 
ongoing developments have low requirements for affordable housing, which 
impacts on the current figures. The Council seeks provision on-site for affordable 
housing but accepts commuted sums if appropriate. There is currently £684,050 
negotiated as commuted sums of which £415,000 is committed and £262,500 
has been received. 

69 Monitoring arrangements for the delivery of schemes do not include any 
assessment of how developments compare in terms of value for money. For 
example, between those which are provided with grant aid, and those that can be 
developed without grant but with perhaps free land. The monitoring sheets used 
have been amended to show the funding streams so that the Council is in a 
position to carry out some analysis. This would enable the Council to develop its 
value for money approach in respect of enabling affordable housing. 

 



26 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

70 The Council is proactive in identifying how affordable housing will be delivered in 
future. Planning applications are monitored by housing so that potential sites and 
Section 106 Agreements for affordable housing are identified. Section 106 
Agreements are tracked to ensure that the affordable housing requirements are 
met and the number of affordable housing units negotiated is monitored as a local 
indicator. By the end of 2005/06, 363 affordable housing units had been 
negotiated and planned for future years.

71 The Council is in the process of identifying and assessing its own land bank for 
use as affordable housing schemes. The larger and easier to develop sites have 
been identified and RSL partners are carrying out feasibility studies on these. 
This includes some exception sites in rural areas. The land will be given to RSLs 
at nil cost and may be further supported by grant through the ADP or commuted 
sums depending on the costs of development. 

72 There is effective joint and partnership working to deliver affordable housing. 
Housing and Planning Services work closely together to bring sites forward for 
development and negotiate Section 106 Agreements. Work with RSL partners 
has been formalised through a Partnership Agreement. Five RSLs are signed up 
to this but more are interested in joining. The agreement provides the framework 
in which the parties work together. A Section 106 Protocol is being developed to 
reflect the current arrangements, although the principles in the Section 106 
Protocol developed through the Welland partnership are still followed. Working 
arrangements with developers are also improving, with a number contacting the 
Council in advance of any planning applications to discuss the Council's 
requirements and work towards accommodating these. 

73 The impact of the Council's work in enabling affordable housing is a significant 
increase in the number of affordable homes delivered compared to previous 
years. In 2005/06, 112 homes were achieved against a target of 80, an increase 
from 50 delivered in 2004/05 and considerably lower numbers prior to this. In 
2006/07, 44 affordable homes had been completed from April to July. Annual 
targets of 100, 150 and 160 have been set for 2006/09. The homes provided are 
a mix of rented and shared ownership on a split of about 60:40. The build is 
phased so that they are completed at regular intervals throughout the 
development programme.

74 The Council has enabled some affordable housing developments in rural areas 
but homes have not yet been delivered on rural exception sites. Planning 
applications have been submitted on three exception sites and the Council is now 
actively pursuing these.

75 The approach to providing supported housing through the enabling programme is 
not fully developed, and is hindered by the lack of prioritisation of supported 
housing needs through the County Council's Supporting People Programme. 
Supported housing needs were identified as part of the development of the 
Housing Strategy but these are not prioritised. RSL partners have difficulty in 
proposing and developing schemes because of the lack of clarity over the 
revenue funding from the Supporting People Programme and what type of 
schemes would receive support.  

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 27

South Kesteven District Council 

76 However, some supported housing schemes have been delivered. A supported 
housing scheme in Grantham for young people has been developed by an RSL 
partner. An extra care scheme is also being developed following work with the 
Health Service to identify needs. This involves demolishing an existing sheltered 
scheme and provision of a new scheme with extra care for older people. The 
Council recognises the difficulties with the Supporting People funding and is 
exploring ways of securing supported housing without relying on it. However, 
without a clear and co-ordinated framework which prioritises needs there is a risk 
that resources are not targeted at those most in need. 

77 The Council is responsive to meeting supported housing needs on an individual 
case basis. There is a multi-agency Social Care Group, which meets regularly to 
identify, and find ways of meeting, specific housing needs. The group includes 
Social Services, Health and RSLs and in particular looks at cases where the need 
cannot be met through a disabled facilities grant. Five new homes have been 
designed and built to meet specific client requirements. 

Homelessness and housing needs 

78 In our previous inspection we found that weaknesses outweighed strengths. 
Housing advice and the approach to preventing homelessness was under 
developed. There was no supported temporary accommodation for vulnerable 
homeless people. However, the standard of temporary accommodation was good 
and the rent deposit scheme had been established to assist in preventing 
homelessness.

79 In this inspection we found a balance of strengths and weaknesses. The Council 
has a sound strategic approach to homelessness. It has initiatives in place and 
works well in partnership to prevent homelessness and meet the needs of 
vulnerable groups. There is limited use of Bed and Breakfast and the standard of 
temporary accommodation is generally good. However, homelessness prevention 
work is under developed and the arrangements for homeless households to 
access secure tenancies are not satisfactory. There is limited analysis of 
homelessness trends to inform service improvement and the impact of 
partnership working is not captured and evaluated. 

80 The Council delivers its homelessness and housing needs service within a 
strategic framework. The Homelessness Strategy 2003/06 was developed 
through the Welland Partnership and sets out the key themes for the service. The 
Council is currently part of the Lincolnshire County Housing Group responsible for 
developing the revised county-wide homelessness strategy for 2007/10. Need 
mapping exercises are currently being carried out and consultation events are 
planned. The strategy is due to be in place from April 2007. 

81 The strategic approach is supported through the South Kesteven Homelessness 
Forum, which is a multi-agency group meeting quarterly, responsible for ensuring 
progress against the strategic aims and objectives and identifying areas of 
concern. For example, how to meet the housing needs of 25 to 60 year olds who 
often fall outside the priority categories. The Forum has also recently been 
involved with the review of the rent deposit scheme. 

 



28 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

82 The allocations policy is not being effectively used as a strategic tool to meet the 
housing needs in the district. The allocation policy assesses and prioritises 
housing need to ensure that allocations are made to those with the highest 
needs. However, although the Council records the number of lettings that are 
made to existing tenants transferring homes, and to applicants on the Housing 
Register, there is not robust monitoring and analysis to show any trends, and 
allow an assessment as to whether the policy continues to meet the potentially 
changing housing needs of the area.

83 The arrangements for homeless households to access secure tenancies through 
the allocations scheme are not satisfactory. The Council uses its own stock as 
temporary accommodation for homeless households, initially on a licence 
pending a decision being made. If the duty to provide accommodation is accepted 
the tenancy is offered as non-secure in discharge of the duty and the 
homelessness case closed. This is not good practice and the duty should not be 
ended until an offer of a secure tenancy is made through the allocations scheme, 
or such an offer is refused, or the household secures its own accommodation. 

84 Arrangements were in place to convert the non-secure tenancies for homeless 
households into secure ones within a certain timeframe, provided the tenancy 
had been properly conducted. However, this means that secure tenancies are 
being offered outside of the allocation scheme and the Council is not following the 
Code of Guidance on the Allocation of Accommodation, in respect of homeless 
households where a duty has been accepted. The Council is failing to give 
reasonable preference, as required by law, to homeless households for an offer 
of secure accommodation through the allocation scheme. 

85 Furthermore the arrangements to convert tenancies from non-secure to secure 
have not been followed recently, and at the time of inspection there were 
between 300 and 400 households who had been accepted as homeless but have 
remained as non-secure tenants. The Council has started an exercise to address 
this and arrange for tenancies to be converted into secure ones. Although the 
outcome is the same in that the tenancy becomes secure, the offer of the secure 
tenancy is not based on the priority system set out in the allocations scheme, 
again contravening the Code of Guidance on offers of secure tenancies. This is 
poor management of the allocation system and disadvantages homeless 
households who have not been able to access a secure tenancy in an 
appropriate way. It also means that while tenants remain as non-secure they are 
not benefiting from the rights enshrined in secure tenancies.  

86 Homelessness prevention activities are not fully developed but capacity is being 
increased in a range of ways to increase the provision of this service. As part of 
the restructuring the homelessness role was widened into a housing options role, 
to increase the emphasis on prevention work. However, prevention work is 
hindered by staffing shortages in the team. Work in investigating and processing 
homelessness applications restricts the time available to focus on prevention 
activities. Two agency workers have been employed to increase capacity and two 
vacancies are currently being advertised. However, in the meantime the 
prevention service offered in house is limited.  

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 29

South Kesteven District Council 

87 The Council has recently entered into an arrangement with the CAB to increase 
the capacity to provide housing advice and information. The Council identified a 
budget of £18,500 for the external provision of housing advice and asked for bids. 
The CAB successfully bid and is providing the service for the Council under a 
specific Service Level Agreement. The Council is providing training to the CAB to 
support their role and on using the Initial Enquiry Form, so that the same level of 
service is offered regardless of where the service is accessed. As part of the 
arrangements the CAB is able to make appointments for customers to see a 
SHELTER advisor where the case appears complex, and can also make 
appointments with local Solicitors who provide advice on relationship breakdown 
and family and property law, where this is required. The first quarter figures for 
April - June 2006 showed that the CAB had dealt with 177 housing enquiries. The 
working relationship with the CAB is very positive and the arrangements in place 
are increasing the level of housing advice offered in the district and providing 
access to the service through an independent source. 

88 The Council has improved its procedures to enhance its homelessness work. It 
has introduced an 'Initial Enquiry Form' for customers seeking help with housing. 
This is in line with good practice, as promoted through the Government's 
Homelessness Directorate. This approach enables detailed information to be 
gathered before a formal homelessness application is made, and allows 
prevention work to be explored at an early stage. There have been some 
difficulties with the form and following comments from the CAB it is currently 
being reviewed. All young people making enquiries are automatically referred to 
the homelessness duty officer and are helped in completing the form, but this is 
not consistently offered to all customers, and some forms are returned 
incomplete. This limits the effectiveness of the approach. However, it is a positive 
initiative, although it is too early to assess the impact it is having. 

89 The Council is working in partnership with the CAB and East Lindsey District 
Council on a project to improve homelessness prevention work. The scheme is 
government funded with contributions from the two Councils. The project is 
focused on preventing homelessness in the private rented sector through better 
advice and information for both landlords and tenants. The project has only just 
started and it is too early for any outcomes.

90 The Council makes effective use of its rent deposit loan scheme to assist 
households to obtain accommodation in the private sector and prevent 
homelessness. In 2005/06, 30 households were helped. The Council also makes 
use of discretionary housing benefit for households with a genuine financial need 
to maintain their rent payments. In 2005/06, £16,619 was paid which represents 
78 per cent of the fund available. The use of this fund enables households to stay 
in their homes and potentially avoids them becoming homeless.

91 There is limited use of mediation as a means of preventing homelessness. 
Housing options officers carry out some mediation and some is available through 
the specialist agencies. The Council is considering how it can extend its 
mediation arrangements and the funding implications for this. 

 



30 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

92 Joint discussions about households who are facing possession proceedings for 
rent arrears takes place between Housing Solutions and Tenancy Management, 
aimed at sustaining the tenancy and preventing eviction. The intention is to 
ensure that where evictions are carried out sufficient help will have been offered 
to the tenant to allow the Council to make an intentionally homeless decision. 
This addresses concerns in our previous inspection where such liaison 
arrangements were not in place and tenants evicted for rent arrears were 
subsequently rehoused.

93 There is little analysis of the trends in homelessness. Homelessness 
presentations dropped by over 100 from 2004/05 to 2005/06, although the ratio of 
acceptances remained about the same. However, the Council is not clear why 
this is the case and whether its homeless prevention activities have impacted on 
these figures. Prevention and repeat homelessness figures are gathered for the 
BVPIs but are not being used along side other information, such as that gathered 
on the government quarterly returns, to analyse and understand any changes in 
homelessness. This limits the Council ability to respond to changing 
circumstances and inform service improvement. 

94 There are a number of effective joint working arrangements which assist 
vulnerable customers. The Council has referral arrangements with a number of 
agencies to provide advice and support to vulnerable households who are 
homeless or at risk of homelessness. These include arrangements with Sure 
Start for families with children who are five and under and with the Connexions 
Service for young people. There is also access to a scheme run by NACRO 
which offers assistance to clients of any age who are ex or current drug users or 
who are at risk of re-offending. This includes a supported housing scheme with 
two of the properties provided from the Council's own stock.

95 There is limited monitoring to evaluate the effectiveness of the joint working and 
referral arrangements. Feedback on individual cases is given to the Council but 
there is no overall monitoring of the numbers of referrals made and the impact 
these have in supporting the housing needs and homelessness service. This 
makes it difficult to establish the extra value and capacity that joint working brings 
to the service and limits the opportunities to identify service improvements and 
target the Council's own activities.   

96 Referral arrangements are in place to provide young people aged 16 to 25 with 
supported housing. Demand is higher than supply but schemes are available in 
Grantham and Stamford. The most recent scheme in Grantham was enabled 
through the Council's development programme and provides supported housing 
in eight self-contained units in a converted house, with a further 15 units in an 
adjacent block offering move on with a lower level of support, pending permanent 
housing being secured. The scheme offers a high standard of service and 
accommodation.

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 31

South Kesteven District Council 

97 There is a lack of move on arrangements for supported housing clients which 
restricts the 'flow through' and builds up the waiting list. The Council has not yet 
explored how this could be improved, perhaps by quotas through the allocations 
scheme. There is also no access to immediate supported accommodation, and 
the Council relies on facilities in other council districts. The Council recognises 
this as issue and is considering how bed spaces for this can be developed. 

98 The Council works with Grantham Poverty Concern who offer practical support, 
such as food and other items, to vulnerable people. It also provides statistical 
information to the Council on their clients, including the usage of their facilities 
and services, and identifies how many of their clients are homeless.

99 Information on rough sleeping in the district has not been formally gathered and 
assessed, although a rough sleepers' count is planned for the Autumn. The 
Council is of the view, based on discussions with partner agencies, that there are 
few rough sleepers but that 'sofa surfing' is an issue. 

100 The Council offers a sensitive and appropriate response to victims of domestic 
violence, although not all available options are on offer. There is joint working 
between Grantham Women's Aid, the domestic violence unit of the Police and the 
Council, to respond to cases of domestic violence. Victims of domestic violence 
are offered temporary accommodation or fast tracking of a permanent move. If 
the victim wishes to remain in their home a lifeline alarm is offered which is 
monitored through the Care Centre. Additional security measures are offered 
through links with the Police. There is no women's refuge in the South Kesteven 
district and the Council relies on links with the Women's refuge in Lincoln when a 
refuge place is required. 

101 The Council recognises it needs to be more proactive in its response to domestic 
violence. Domestic violence as a reason for homelessness increased from 14 in 
2004/05 to 21 in 2005/06. The Council has agreed joint funding with North 
Kesteven District Council to employ a domestic violence co-ordinator. It is 
intending to increase publicity by re-branding some of the work done by North 
Kesteven, and is developing plans for a sanctuary scheme to help victims feel 
safe in their own homes.

102 Homelessness investigations are thorough and appropriate decisions are made. 
An electronic procedure manual has been introduced to support and guide staff. 
Performance in making and notifying decisions in 33 days is satisfactory, with 
performance improving from 85 per cent for January to March 2006 to 93 per cent 
for April to June.

103 A sound review procedure is in place and applicants seeking a review are 
advised of the service offered by SHELTER to support them. The review is 
carried out by a senior officer as required by the legislation, and the Council 
offers a further stage of review by a Member Panel. Since January two requests 
for review have been received of which one was upheld and the other withdrawn. 

 



32 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

104 The Council makes limited use of Bed and Breakfast as temporary 
accommodation for homeless households. In 2005/06 the average length of stay 
was 0.4 weeks and the expenditure incurred was £12,000. However, the length of 
stay in other temporary accommodation is not monitored and so the Council 
cannot assess how well it is performing in keeping this time to a minimum.

105 The standard of temporary accommodation is generally good. There are  
11 furnished self-contained properties which are maintained in a reasonable state 
of repair and cleanliness. Bed and breakfast accommodation is also to a 
generally good standard and is provided above public houses, in guest houses 
and travel lodges. Temporary accommodation is also provided in the Council's 
stock.

106 There are arrangements to offer support while households are in temporary 
accommodation but advice and information on Council and other services is 
limited. A housing options officer visits households in the furnished 
accommodation on a weekly basis, and there is floating support for clients who 
need additional assistance. There is provision for floating support for 36 clients at 
any one time. Priority is given to teenage mothers and then according to need for 
homeless households and council tenants. However, other advice and 
information, for example about services and facilities in the area is limited. A 
notice board was in place in one of the furnished blocks but was empty and did 
not appear to have been used.

Private sector housing 

107 In our previous inspection we found weaknesses considerably outweighed 
strengths. The Council did not have comprehensive information on private sector 
stock condition and was not successfully tackling unfit properties or bringing 
empty homes back into use. It had failed to spend its budget on disabled facilities 
grants and partnership working was under developed.

108 In this inspection we found that weaknesses outweigh strengths. The Council's 
strategic approach to private sector housing is under developed, there has been 
limited action to improve private sector stock condition, and applicants for 
disabled facilities grants have received an inconsistent service subject to delays. 
The approach to private sector enforcement activities is largely reactive, the 
mandatory licensing scheme for Houses in Multiple Occupation is not fully 
implemented and progress in relation to empty homes and energy efficiency is 
limited. However, there is sound information on private sector stock condition 
which is being used to develop a strategic approach, there is an effective 
response to private sector complaints, with cases appropriately dealt with and the 
budget for disabled facilities grants has been spent.  

109 The strategic approach to private sector renewal is under developed. The 
Housing Strategy includes some broad principles in relation to private sector 
housing but does not provide a strategic framework. The Council was party to the 
Welland Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy but did not implement a 
number of the objectives within this. The Council is taking action to develop a 
strategic approach.

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 33

South Kesteven District Council 

110 The Council has sound information on stock condition in the private sector, based 
on a stock condition survey carried out in 2005. This showed that in general the 
stock is in a reasonable state of repair with 2.7 per cent of properties classified as 
unfit, which is below the national average, and 8.4 per cent requiring a mandatory 
response under the Housing, Health and Safety Rating System. 80 per cent of 
properties are assessed as meeting the Decent Homes Standard and those that 
do not fail mainly on the thermal comfort criteria. It is estimated that 23 per cent of 
vulnerable households live in non-decent properties. 

111 The Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy is in development. This is being 
informed by the private sector stock condition information and the contextual 
information for the district. Given the relative lack of deprivation in the area the 
Council recognises that the strategic approach must promote the owner's 
responsibility in maintaining their home. The proposals in the strategy include 
loans for owner occupiers and also grants for landlords who agree to let their 
properties at affordable rents. The intention is to target resources at the most 
vulnerable groups as identified through the stock condition survey, from existing 
regional information and from information from the energy companies on where 
energy efficiency measures have been taken up. Some of the proposals have 
been discussed at the Landlord's Forum but the strategy will be consulted on 
more widely in due course. The strategy is scheduled for completion by 
November 2006 so that it can form the basis of bidding for funding to the 
Government Office for the East Midlands.

112 The grants service is being determined, pending the development of the Private 
Sector Renewal Strategy, through an interim grants policy. This offers disabled 
facilities grants (DFGs), discretionary repair grants up to £3,000 to address 
category 1 hazards under the Health and Safety rating System, and top up grants 
for the Warm Front scheme. Consultation on the policy was carried out through 
two workshop sessions. These were advertised and attended by stakeholders 
and some members of the public. The budget for 2006/07 is £350,000, with 
£300,000 allocated to DFGs, £20,000 for discretionary DFGs, £20,000 for repair 
and improvement grants and £10,000 for empty homes. 

113 There is limited publicity and promotion of the private sector housing services, 
and in particular a lack of targeted publicity to reach potential service users. 
Some leaflets are available, which are informative, but there is no promotion of 
the grants service. There is also a lack of publicised service standards for the 
service. This makes the service less accessible to a client group which includes a 
high proportion of vulnerable customers. 

114 There is an active Landlords Forum which the Council makes effective use of in 
relation to its work in the private sector. Consultation to assist in developing 
strategies and policies takes place and the Council regularly arranges 
presentations to the Forum. The Forum is actively engaged in discussing the 
proposals in the 2004 Housing Act and in particular the arrangements for the 
mandatory licensing of HMOs. 

 



34 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

115 There are a lack of comprehensive procedures in place to guide the delivery of 
private sector grants and enforcement activities. Standard letters have been 
developed and some brief procedure notes but these are not sufficiently 
comprehensive to guide staff and ensure a consistent service is provided.

116 The Council's intervention to encourage improvement in private sector stock 
condition through grant aid is limited. Although the interim grants policy enables 
grants to be offered, there has been no private sector repairs assistance through 
grants or loans in the last two years. A budget was set at £50,000 but was not 
used. The budget for this year is £20,000. Funding from the Government Office 
for £52,000 to deliver decent homes for vulnerable people in the private sector 
has been made available for 2006/07, and a further £27,000 for 2007/08. This 
money will be largely targeted at minor repair grants and top up grants for Warm 
Front. However, the Council has made little impact to date in assisting vulnerable 
customers in the private sector to improve their homes.

117 Disabled facilities grants (DFGs) are being delivered but customers have 
received variable levels of service over the last year. Responsibility for disabled 
facilities grants has rested with Tenancy Services until recently. Recruitment 
difficulties within the Housing Solutions Team meant that this area of work could 
not be transferred to them as early as planned. Responsibility for the service now 
rests with the Housing Solutions Team and a partnership has been entered into 
with the Home Improvement Agency to deliver the grants with effect from the
24 July 2006. However, staffing shortages in Tenancy Services has meant an 
inconsistent service for customers and a lack of progress monitoring and chasing. 
Some applicants have been offered advice and assistance and their cases dealt 
with efficiently, while others have not been offered help, and applications have 
been subject to considerable delays. Weak co-ordination in the handover 
arrangements to Housing Solutions has meant further delays, while cases in 
progress and on the waiting list are checked to assess their current status. 

118 The expenditure on DFGs in 2005/06 was £322,000 against a budget of 
£300,000, delivering 51 grants. The over spend was accommodated by the  
non-DFG private sector grant budget which was set at £50,000 but against which 
no expenditure was incurred. Historically the DFG budget has under spent by 
about a third. There has also been a lack of control over the works being carried 
out through DFGs and these have sometimes been beyond meeting essential 
needs. The Council has now clarified with the Occupational Therapy Service what 
will be paid for through DFGs to address this. However, this means that 
resources have not been best used to assist as many vulnerable clients as 
possible.

119 The DFG budget for 2006/07 is already committed, with a projected spend of 
about £318,000. There are currently 84 applications either being processed, or 
waiting processing with the oldest application dating back to April 2005. To 
enable these applications to be dealt with, and to respond to current demand, a 
bid for further resources is being made to the Council's capital programme.  

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 35

South Kesteven District Council 

120 The processes for prioritising DFGs are underdeveloped. The referrals from the 
Occupational Therapist Service do not have a clear priority attached to them, 
although some discussion may take place over the level of urgency for particular 
cases. The Housing Service may also prioritise cases but there is no clear criteria 
set out for this. Without a clear priority system the Council cannot ensure that 
resources are targeted at those most in need and that customers are being 
treated equitably.

121 Joint working with Social Services is underdeveloped. There are no protocols in 
place to govern the relationship between the Council and the Occupational 
Therapist Service, or in relation to hospital discharges. There is a lack of clarity 
over the level of minor adaptation work, under £1000, that will be carried out by 
the County Council. Discussions have taken place but it is not clear how these 
are being progressed. There is no cross-county working which limits the 
opportunities for sharing good practice and identifying efficiencies. There is no 
joint monitoring of the service around waiting times, and whether the DFG service 
is successfully meeting the needs of vulnerable customers. However, there are 
joint meetings held with the Occupational Therapy Service every two months to 
discuss current cases and some joint visits take place 

122 The arrangements with the Home Improvement Agency (HIA) were due to start 
the week after our inspection. The difficulties experienced by the Council in 
recruiting its own private sector grants staff led to the arrangements being 
brought forward earlier than planned, and the Council has worked successfully 
with the Agency to achieve this. However, protocols governing the arrangements 
are still to be put in place. The Council intends to use the protocols already 
agreed with other councils as a basis for its own arrangements, and also intends 
to benefit from the procedures and joint working arrangements that the HIA 
already has in place with its other partners.

123 The time taken to deliver DFG grants is monitored from the stage of referral from 
the OT to the completed application, and from completed application to approval. 
In 2005/06 performance respectively was 108 days against a target of 180 and 
13.5 days against a target of 22 days. However, this does not include the total 
time the customer waits as the time taken for the Occupation Therapist to visit is 
not included. The targets are set globally for all grants as the Council does not 
operate a priority system. More meaningful information could be obtained if a 
priority system was agreed and targets were set and performance monitored 
against these. This would link performance more closely to the needs of the most 
vulnerable customers.

124 Customer satisfaction levels with the DFG service are relatively high. Service 
users are sent satisfaction surveys and of the 59 sent out last year, 29 were 
returned, which is a reasonable return rate.  

 



36 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

125 The Council's approach to Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) is not 
sufficiently robust. There are about 240 HMOs in the district, of which 40 have 
been identified as falling under the mandatory licensing scheme. There are no 
arrangements to proactively identify HMOs, with new HMOs only currently being 
identified through complaints. However, some discussions have taken place with 
the Gangmasters Licensing Authority which may help identify HMOs occupied by 
migrant workers.

126 The Council has introduced the new HMO licensing scheme but implementation 
has been slow. The new licensing scheme was promoted in the press and 
discussions and consultation on the arrangements took place through the 
Landlords Forum. Applications forms were handed out at a promotional event in 
March and assistance offered with completing them. Some applications have 
been returned but there are no clear arrangements for chasing those that have 
not, or where information is missing. No inspections have yet been carried out 
and no licenses have been issued. Landlords of HMOs requiring licensing who 
have not submitted applications are now in breach of the HMO legislation. 
Procedures for enforcement of the licensing scheme have not yet been agreed 
and actions to ensure these landlords submit applications have been limited. 

127 Inspections of HMOs have taken place in the past based on risk assessment but 
there is no current programme in place. The procedures and programme for 
inspection of HMOs which do not fall under the licensing scheme have not yet 
been agreed. 

128 Private sector enforcement work outside of HMOs is limited and based on 
responding to complaints. However, the Council is signed up to the Enforcement 
Concordat and complaints received are properly investigated and appropriate 
action taken. Quality control procedures are followed so that between five and ten 
per cent of cases are checked to ensure that they have been dealt with properly. 
A target has been set for contacting complainants within five days and this is 
being achieved. In 2005/06 the Council dealt with 42 disrepair complaints and 
served ten notices. Satisfaction surveys have been sent out in the past to users 
of the service but had poor response rates. Surveys are not currently taking 
place.

129 There is little proactive work in bringing empty properties back into use. There is 
no empty homes strategy, although it is intended to include this as part of the 
development of the private sector renewal strategy. A budget for empty homes 
has been agreed at £10,000 for the current year but it is not clear how this can be 
accessed and the interim private sector grants policy does not address this. 

130 Few empty homes are returned to use as a result of the Council's action.
528 homes had been empty for longer than six months at March 2006. During 
2005/06, 11 empty properties were bought back into use in 2005/06 which was 
an improvement on the previous year's figure of five. Information is available 
quarterly based on Council tax records but this is not well categorised for analysis 
and no analysis is currently taking place. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 37

South Kesteven District Council 

131 Energy efficiency work is not well linked into the work of private sector housing, 
and promotion and publicity is limited. There is some information about energy 
efficiency in the Council's reception area and on the website. However, there is 
little general promotion through presentations and articles in newsletters. Energy 
efficiency issues are not routinely raised with users of the grants service or picked 
up as part of any enforcement activities. There are few links between the energy 
advice service and the private sector housing service and enquiries are not 
proactively directed between services. 

132 Monitoring of energy efficiency work is underdeveloped. The number of referrals 
for Warm Front and the total value of the grants offered are recorded but there is 
not wider monitoring around the number of enquiries, referrals to the energy 
agencies, and levels of access to external funding for the various schemes. 
Specific energy efficiency surveys have not been used and there has been limited 
use of the private sector stock condition information to guide the development of 
energy efficiency work. However, a Private and Public Sector Housing Efficiency 
Policy was developed in March 2006, followed by an improvement plan in June 
2006, which will address some of these issues.  

Is the service delivering value for money? 

133 In our previous inspection we found that weaknesses outweighed strengths. 
There was no systematic collection of service costs and service quality and no 
comparison of costs with others. Staff were not deployed to maximise value for 
money and procurement was not being used effectively. 

134 In this inspection we found a balance of strengths and weaknesses. The Council 
cannot demonstrate value for money in delivering its strategic housing services. It 
does not know the detailed costs of providing its services and there has not been 
any benchmarking of costs. Procurement is not yet embedded as a means of 
delivering value for money. However, the Council does ensure that resources 
follow priorities, and service planning is used to challenge and assess value for 
money. Partnerships are adding value to the services provided, and work and 
expertise is shared through joint working with other councils.

How do costs compare? 

135 The Council has limited information on the costs of delivering its strategic housing 
services, and has not carried out any benchmarking of costs with others. A 
corporate exercise was carried out to broadly assess the costs of the various 
service areas. Strategic housing services accounts for 2.5 per cent of the 
Council's overall budget, and its costs were assessed in relation to per head of 
population, as below the median when compared nationally. However, the 
Council does not have information on the detailed costs of its services, such as 
the cost of processing a DFG or homelessness application. Without this detailed 
information the Council is not in a position to effectively benchmark with others, 
and cannot demonstrate whether its services are delivering value for money.

 



38 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

How is value for money managed? 

136 The Council has made delivering value for money a high priority and has set the 
Use of Resources as a priority A. It ensures that resources are aligned to 
priorities through a system of gateway reviews in respect of its overall priorities, 
and the service plans to support these. Gateway reviews are carried out by 
Members and senior managers and are used to challenge services and the costs 
of providing them, and ensure that budgets are allocated accordingly. Revenue 
and capital budgets are subject to challenge and service plans include an 
assessment of value for money in relation to the services provided. The gateway 
review process enables the Council to clearly identify how resources are being 
used.

137 The Housing Solutions Team was established with effect from December 2005 
and the budgets set to support the structure. An assessment of value for money 
was made as part of developing the service plan. The effectiveness and value for 
money of the restructured service will be subject to challenge this year as part of 
the service planning framework.

138 Assessment of value for money is being aided by a new financial ledger system, 
which was introduced from April 2006. This offers improved financial information 
to managers and is easily accessible. As part of the system a time recording 
module is being purchased which will enable activity-based costing and allow the 
Council to identify its costs. Capacity in the Finance Service is being increased to 
support service managers to develop and embed value for money as a way of 
working.

139 The annual efficiency statement for 2006/07 identifies £725,000 of efficiency 
gains of which £362,000 are cashable. Housing Solutions identified savings of 
£1000 on bed and breakfast costs as the contribution from strategic housing 
services. Once the restructured service has operated over time more detailed 
assessment of potential savings will be made.  

140 Procurement is being developed corporately across the Council but is not yet 
embedded as a means of delivering value for money. Capacity has been 
increased through a dedicated procurement post and a procurement strategy 
developed. This will be supported with detailed guidance for staff. Targets have 
been set to achieve savings through procurement over a three-year period.

141 Some savings have been delivered through procurement, but it is not yet 
delivering substantial tangible outcomes. Savings were made for internal audit 
services through joint procurement with another Council. There has also been 
savings on IT equipment and stationery. 'E' procurement has recently been 
introduced which is a more efficient way of working. However, there has been 
little use of procurement in private sector housing activities, in particular in 
relation to how the work for disabled facilities work is procured. 

142 To improve the outcomes from effective procurement the Council and its Welland 
Partners have recently established a Procurement Board, which will operate to 
jointly procure goods and services across the partner authorities. This approach 
is in accordance with good practice national procurement guidelines. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 39

South Kesteven District Council 

143 Joint working with other councils is delivering efficiencies through developing and 
sharing projects. For example there is joint work to develop the homelessness 
strategy and the documentation for HMO licensing was also developed jointly.  

144  Housing Solutions adds value to its services by working in partnership. A number 
of partnerships operate, described earlier in the report, which enhance the 
services available. These are not formally evaluated to show the extent of the 
added value, which limits the Council's assessment of their effectiveness and 
their contribution to the housing strategic objectives. However, expressions of 
interest were sought for the external housing advice service, and although only 
one bid was received, this was evaluated against agreed criteria including an 
assessment of value for money. The Council has also set up arrangements with 
the Home Improvement Agency to jointly fund two posts to deliver the grants 
service.

145 The Council keeps the use of bed and breakfast as temporary accommodation to 
a minimum, which limits expenditure. For 2005/06 expenditure was £12,000. The 
Council also seeks to ensure that housing benefit is claimed so that housing 
subsidy on temporary accommodation costs can be sought, although this is not 
yet being maximised. The use of discretionary housing benefit to prevent 
homelessness also represents an effective way of achieving value for money. 
There is effective use of section 106 Agreements to develop affordable housing. 
In these ways the Council is seeking to maximise the resources available to it to 
deliver its housing priorities.  

Summary

146 We have assessed the Housing Strategic Service provided by the Council as a 
'fair' one-star service. 

147 Access to services is focused on meeting customers' needs, supported by easy 
to read leaflets and there is partnership work to identify and improve services to 
meet diverse needs. The Housing Strategy is comprehensive, setting out clear 
priorities for the Service, and the Council is working well in partnership to deliver 
creditable levels of affordable housing. There is effective partnership work around 
preventing homelessness and meeting the needs of vulnerable households, a 
good standard of temporary accommodation is available and limited use is made 
of bed and breakfast. The Council ensures that resources are aligned to priorities 
and partnership working is adding value to the services provided.

148 However, information on the services available is not comprehensive or 
consistently available, and customer feedback is not informing service 
development and improvement. The information on the customer profile is limited, 
the Council cannot demonstrate that services are delivered equitably and 
services are not systematically tailored to meet the needs of vulnerable 
customers. Homelessness prevention work is under developed and the 
arrangements for homeless households to access permanent secure tenancies 
are not satisfactory.  

 



40 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services How good is the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

149 The Council's strategic approach to private sector housing is under developed, 
there has been limited action to improve private sector stock condition, or bring 
empty properties back into use, and enforcement activities are largely reactive. 
Applicants for disabled facilities grants have received an inconsistent service 
subject to delays. The Council cannot demonstrate value for money in delivering 
its strategic housing services and procurement is not yet embedded as a means 
of delivering value for money.

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 41

South Kesteven District Council 

What are the prospects for improvement 
to the service? 

What is the service track record in delivering improvement? 

150 In our previous inspection we found little evidence of improvement in service 
delivery and little progress against key elements in the housing strategy action 
plans.

151 In this inspection we found a balance of strengths and weaknesses. There has 
been mixed progress in delivering service improvements. Significant progress 
has been made in some areas, such as enabling affordable housing but limited 
improvements have been made for private sector housing services. Performance 
is improving in some but not all areas, and a lack of information makes it difficult 
to assess improvement in relation to customer satisfaction with the services. 

152 Progress against the Strategic Housing Improvement Plan has been mixed, with 
slippage against time scales in a number of areas. The time scales set in the 
improvement plan were challenging, and at the time of developing it the 
recruitment difficulties in filling key posts were not anticipated. Tasks have been 
rescheduled and progress is monitored with regular reporting to Members. 
Improvements that have been delivered include: 

development of the Housing Strategy and achieving a 'Fit for Purpose' 
assessment from the Government office for the East Midlands; 

significant increase in the number of affordable housing units, rising from
50 in 2004/05 to 112 in 2005/06 and on track to reach the target of 150 for 
2006/07; and 

improved information for customers through the introduction of a range of 
leaflets, branded in the Council's corporate style. 

153 Other actions that have been completed underpin future improvements. For 
example the Council has carried out housing needs and private sector stock 
condition surveys, which provide the basis for further improvements. The Private 
Sector housing Renewal Strategy, scheduled for completion later this year, is 
being developed using the stock condition information. However, there have been 
few improvements delivered in private sector housing services that are resulting 
in tangible outcomes for customers. 

154 Some improvements are not sufficiently embedded for customers to recognise. 
Whereas customers on the Housing Register benefit from the additional supply of 
affordable housing, the improved information has only recently been introduced 
and will not yet have made an impact. Customer satisfaction levels are monitored 
in a number of areas but analysis and tracking over time has been limited which 
hinders any robust assessment as to overall trends.

 



42 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

155 Performance in some service areas shows improvement. The length of stay in 
bed and breakfast accommodation (BVPI 183a) has reduced from 2004/05 to 
2005/06, performance in processing homelessness applications in 33 days 
(recently introduced as a local performance indicator) has improved since 
January 2006 when the restructured team took responsibility, and the 
performance in delivering affordable homes has improved. However, there has 
been limited improvement in returning empty properties to use (BVPI 64) and no 
improvement in the percentage of unfit properties returned to use, although this is 
no longer monitored as a BVPI.  

156 The Council cannot demonstrate sustained improvement in delivering value for 
money. Systems and arrangements are in place which focus on value for money 
but the outcomes from these are not yet evident over time. 

How well does the service manage performance? 

157 In our previous inspection we found limited improvement plans in place and 
performance management for housing was not robust at any level in the 
organisation. There was no evidence to show that the Council learned from 
others or from customer feedback. However, the Corporate Management Team 
had made an open and honest acknowledgement of the need for improvement in 
its strategic housing service. 

158 In this inspection we found that strengths outweigh weaknesses. The Council has 
clear priorities for housing, has improvement plans in place addressing most 
service weaknesses and a performance framework to deliver these. There is a 
robust system for monitoring and managing performance. The Council is 
responsive to external challenge and seeks actively to learn from others. 
However, proposals for improving private sector housing do not address all 
service weaknesses and the links between the improvement plans and the 
Service Plan are underdeveloped. Performance indicators are not sufficiently 
targeted to effectively manage all areas of performance.

159 The Council has a clear vision supported by strategic priorities, which 
complement those in the Community Plan. The priorities are challenged and 
ranked through a system of Gateway Reviews, whereby Members and Senior 
Officers determine the highest priorities and allocate resources to these. There is 
clear commitment to strategic housing services at Member and Senior Office 
level demonstrated by the service being assessed as a Priority A, meaning it 
requires significant resources to achieve step change.

160 The Housing Strategy identifies clear priorities for the Housing service, which are 
set out earlier in the report. These support the delivery of the Council's ambitions, 
and reflect national and local priorities. A performance management framework 
has been developed to deliver the priorities, and improvement planning is used to 
address service weaknesses. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 43

South Kesteven District Council 

161 Improvement plans are in place to address most service weaknesses. Following 
our last inspection the Council developed a strategic housing improvement plan 
to tackle the weaknesses identified and implement the recommendations made. 
This resulted in an extensive action plan with 90 milestones to be achieved. The 
plan sets out the action needed, the resources required, the time scale and the 
responsible officer.

162 A further improvement plan has been developed as part of the Housing Strategy. 
This builds on, and links to the strategic housing improvement plan, and aims to 
take the service forward. The Council intends to merge the outstanding actions 
from the strategic housing improvement plan so that proposed improvements are 
rationalised into one improvement plan. The improvements include: 

year-on-year increases in the number of affordable housing units delivered; 

increasing the floating support services in the area; 

developing an action plan to meet the needs of Gypsies and Travellers; 

offering housing options for people fleeing domestic violence;

wider involvement of stakeholders and users in service improvement; and 

at a corporate level opening the new customer services centre to offer a high 
quality environment and service to customers.

163 The improvements plans do not adequately address all the service weaknesses 
in private sector housing. Although there are actions to develop and implement 
the private sector renewal strategy and to improve joint working around energy 
efficiency, there are not specific proposals to move the Council towards delivering 
a more proactive enforcement and inspection service or to address some of the 
issues in delivering disabled facilities grants.

164 There are plans to improve value for money. The annual efficiency statement 
identifies efficiency gains of £1.087 for 2005/06 to 2007/08 of which £0.543 are 
cashable. Some of these are to be delivered through improved procurement. The 
'Procurement Card' system will be introduced from September 2006, and the 
recently established Welland Procurement Board will be setting up arrangements 
for the joint procurement of goods and services aimed at achieving better value 
for money. 

165 There is visible leadership of the organisation with Members and Senior 
Managers focused on delivering the priorities. At the time of inspection there was 
restructuring ongoing at management levels to create a four tier system of 
strategic directors, corporate heads of service, heads of service and team 
leaders. The Housing Solutions Team was established to reflect this structure 
and is not therefore subject to further restructuring. There are positive 
relationships between Members and officers in the Housing Solutions Team, 
which supports delivery of the service. Chairs and vice chairs of the Development 
and Scrutiny Panels were selected on the basis of application and an evaluation 
against agreed criteria in order to strengthen their role in challenging policies and 
performance.

 



44 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

166 Service planning is used, as part of the performance management framework, to 
cascade the Council's priorities through the organisation and deliver the actions 
in the improvement plans. Gateway Reviews are used to challenge service plans 
and ensure that they meet the priorities of the service and that the appropriate 
resources are in place. The links between the Housing Solutions Service Plan 
and the improvement plans are not fully developed to comprehensively show how 
the service will be delivered. However, the service plan for strategic housing 
services was produced for the first time in November 2005, along with the 
establishment of the Housing Solutions Team, and did not have the benefit of 
being built up from an established base. The service plan will be reviewed later 
this year as part of the annual cycle.

167 Personal and Development Reviews (PDRs) are used to translate the priorities 
and objectives in the service plans into individual objectives and targets. 
Performance is also discussed and assessed through this process. PDRs have 
not been consistently carried out throughout the organisation, but these are now 
monitored as a local performance indicator. Managers are required to complete 
all PDRs by September 2006, which will enable them to be brought into line with 
the service planning timeframe.

168 There are robust arrangements to monitor and manage performance. The 
Housing Operations and Development Group, made up of managers in the 
Housing Service, meet on a monthly basis, and as part of the agenda, discusses 
performance across a range indicators. The Portfolio Holder for Housing also 
attends these meetings. If a service is not performing as expected remedial 
action is taken which may involve developing an action plan to address the areas 
of concern. 

169 Monthly performance reports, based on BVPIs and local performance indicators, 
are produced for the Management Board and are presented to the Cabinet. 
Development and Scrutiny Panels receive the performance information every six 
weeks. Performance is monitored against a traffic light system and if targets are 
not being met an explanation is asked for. If performance does not improve there 
is an escalation process which involves developing an action plan, followed by a 
'performance clinic' which involves a senior manager from another service, and 
finally a Best Value Review of the service. Performance is not yet linked to costs 
but it is planned that budgetary information will be presented to the Management 
Board along side the performance indicators in future. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 45

South Kesteven District Council 

170 The performance indicators used to assess the strategic housing services are not 
sufficiently comprehensive to effectively manage all areas of performance. BVPIs 
and a range of local performance indicators are collected on a monthly or 
quarterly basis. Local performance indicators cover, for example, the number of 
affordable housing units negotiated through Section 106 Agreements and the 
number of housing applications from people fleeing domestic violence. However, 
other measures of performance are not included, such as the time spent by 
homeless households in temporary accommodation other than bed and 
breakfast, or the time taken to process disabled facilities grants, which includes 
the time taken up to the Occupational Therapist referral or the time for different 
priorities of cases. The Council has not scrutinised the performance indicators it 
uses, and cannot therefore assess if they are the most appropriate to 
demonstrate how well the service is performing.  

171 The arrangements for managing budgets are satisfactory. Budgets are in the 
process of being devolved to budget holders. Some budgets have been 
delegated, although some, mainly the salaries budget, is held centrally. Budget 
holders have on line access to budget information and are sent monthly reports 
from the Finance Division. The Council is strengthening the arrangements by 
restructuring and creating extra capacity in the Finance Division to enable greater 
support from accountants to budget holders. Budgets are scrutinised as part of 
the service planning process to ensure they are set at the appropriate level.

172 Procedures for managing risk are in place but need to be embedded throughout 
the organisation. There is a strategic risk register which is monitored monthly by 
the Management Board and any new risks considered. Operational risks are 
identified through the service plans and managed as part of the service planning 
framework. Members are not actively involved in managing risk but receive an 
annual report. The Council recognises it needs to strengthen its arrangements 
and is seeking to co-ordinate operational risks so that they can be monitored 
corporately. There is also training planned for later this year on risk management.

173 The Council is self-aware of the areas it needs to improve and is responsive to 
external challenge. The self-assessment was an honest and open appraisal of 
the service. 

174 The Council is keen to learn from others and seeks out good practice. It sought 
advice and assistance from an 'excellent three star' strategic housing service in 
developing its improvement plans. It has taken on board good practice promoted 
through the Government Homelessness Directorate. Learning from others has 
resulted in the Council introducing initiatives and ways of working that improve its 
own service delivery. The Council also learns from its own experiences, but 
learning from customer feedback is under developed. 

Does the service have the capacity to improve? 

175 In our previous inspection we found that the level of resources and the right 
balance of skills were not in place to deliver substantial improvement in the 
service. However, the Council was engaging external consultancy to increase 
capacity where this was lacking.

 



46 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

176 In this inspection we found that strengths outweigh weaknesses. The Council has 
restructured to create the capacity to provide improved services and has 
identified the financial resources to deliver the priorities. Partnerships are being 
used to increase capacity and the Council has been successful in attracting 
external funding. However, recruitment difficulties have hindered the Council's 
ability to deliver some improvements as quickly as intended, and partnerships 
have not been evaluated to asses the additional value they bring.

177 The capacity to deliver the strategic housing services is now in place. The various 
elements of the service were brought together under the Housing Solutions 
Team, as part of a major restructuring of the Housing Service during 2005. The 
revised establishment consisting of 15 posts came into effect from December 
2005. Prior to this internal secondments, external consultancy support and 
temporary posts were used to deliver the service and develop and implement the 
improvement plan. Additional resources of £150,000 were made available as a 
one off cost to pay for this additional capacity, and projects such as the housing 
needs and stock condition surveys. An extra £60,000 has been allocated to the 
establishment to increase overall capacity on a permanent basis. 

178 The ability to implement service improvements has been hindered by recruitment 
difficulties to the new posts. Although posts were advertised several times during 
2005 the Council was unable to recruit suitable candidates. At the time of 
inspection two manager posts had only recently been filled, there were four 
vacancies for housing options officers, and vacancies in private sector housing. 
The Council has taken action to address these shortages. Two agency staff are 
employed in housing advice and homelessness and two vacancies are currently 
out to advert. An arrangement has been made with the Environmental Health 
Service to carry out private sector enforcement activities, including the inspection 
of Houses in Multiple Occupation. Unsuccessful attempts to recruit private sector 
workers to deliver the grants service led to the Council bringing forward the 
proposals to work with the Home Improvement Agency (HIA). Two private sector 
officers have now been employed by the HIA, jointly funded with the Council, to 
deliver disabled facilities. However, the impact of these difficulties has meant that 
some of the improvements planned have required rescheduling, and existing staff 
have been stretched.   

179 The financial resources to deliver the services have been put in place. The level 
of reserves held by the Council has been assessed and plans developed as to 
how some of this can be used for developing services, although this is dependent 
on generating future savings to make up the loss of interest. £1.8 million has 
been identified for potential use in 2006/07. Capital receipts from Right to Buy 
Sales are ring fenced for housing purposes. These stand at £3 million and are 
currently being held pending the outcome of LSVT ballot. Receipts available to 
the Council in future are likely to generate about £1.5 million annually. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 47

South Kesteven District Council 

180 The Priority A status of strategic housing services ensures appropriate resources 
are made available. The provision of land at nil cost to RSLs and effective 
negotiation of Section 106 Agreements is providing the basis to secure affordable 
housing units in future to meet the targets set. Budgets for private sector grants 
have been set on historical information but a bid for further capital resources is 
currently being made, based on an assessment of the budgetary requirement of 
current applications.

181 The Council manages its human resources to increase the capacity of its 
workforce. A senior manager competency framework was developed with 
assistance from the Improvement and Development Agency, and in 2005 each 
manager in the Council was assessed against this and awarded a competency 
level. There is a financial reward for those achieving the highest level. This will be 
an ongoing process in future. 

182 There are arrangements to support the organisation through training. Training 
needs are identified through Personal Development Reviews. Corporate themes 
are picked up through the Human Resources Service and a training programme 
developed. In the 2005/06 the 'Learning for All' programme was based around IT 
skills, customer care and personal development such as confidence building. 
Training needs are also identified by managers through their service plan so that 
they are aligned to meeting business needs. Managers have a training budget 
and are responsible for arranging training to meet these needs. 

183 The Council also receives government funding to deliver a Leadership and 
Development Programme in partnership with two other councils. The funding 
ends after two years but the Council intends to continue the programme with its 
own resources so that the programme can be extended to all tiers of 
management. The course results in accreditation by the Institute of Leadership 
Management

184 Procedures are in place for the management of absence and flexible 
arrangements are offered to those returning to work, based on individual needs 
assessments in liaison with the occupational health service. In 2005/06 sickness 
absence was 8.1 days, which is a reduction from the previous year. Comparisons 
are made with other councils in the County, and South Kesteven performs 
favourably.

185 Communication in the organisation has been strengthened by the introduction of 
formal team briefings. There is also a staff newsletter sent out every two months. 
Annual staff surveys are carried out and the results considered by the 
Management Board. Communication was identified as an issue through these 
and the team briefing system was set up to help address this. 

 



48 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services What are the prospects for 
improvement to the service? 

South Kesteven District Council 

186 Partnership working is increasing the Council's capacity to deliver and improve its 
services. A range of partnerships are operating to support housing needs and 
homelessness in the district bringing expertise and additional services. Housing 
advice aimed at preventing homelessness has been increased by additional 
funding to the CAB, which adds further value through their arrangements with the 
voluntary sector and private firms of Solicitors. The Home Improvement Agency is 
enabling the delivery of disabled facilities grants through joint funding with the 
Council, and adds further value through its county-wide arrangements. However, 
there has been little evaluation of the added value brought by the different 
partnerships, which limits the Council's ability to target its own resources to 
support it in the most effective way. 

187 Joint working with other councils is also increasing capacity through the sharing 
of tasks and expertise. There are joint working arrangements to develop 
strategies and procedures across a number of activities. Joint working has also 
resulted in attracting external funding. A successful bid was made, with East 
Lindsey District Council, for Government homelessness funding for £26,000 to 
increase housing advice and homelessness prevention in private sector housing. 
£50,000 has been received, subject to match funding, from the East Midlands 
Sub Region for Housing Market Assessment for the Peterborough sub-region.  

Summary

188 We have assessed the Council as having promising prospects for improvement. 

189 The Council has clear priorities for the Housing Service and significant 
improvements have been delivered in some areas of service. There are 
improvement plans in place addressing most service weaknesses and a robust 
system for monitoring and managing performance. The Council is responsive to 
external challenge and seeks actively to learn from others. The Council has the 
capacity and financial resources to deliver its priorities and improved services. 
Partnerships are used to increase capacity to deliver services and the Council 
has been successful in attracting external funding.

190 However, progress in delivering improvements in some services has been limited 
and performance is not improving across all areas. Some service weaknesses 
are not adequately addressed by the improvement plans and performance 
indicators are not sufficiently targeted to effectively manage all areas of 
performance. Partnerships have not been evaluated to asses the additional value 
they bring.

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Appendix 1 – Performance 
indicators 49

South Kesteven District Council 

Appendix 1 – Performance indicators 

Table 1 Best value performance indicators 

Performance indicator All England 
top quartile 
2004/05 

South
Kesteven 
2003/04 

South
Kesteven 
2004/05 

South
Kesteven 
2005/06  

(unaudited 
figures) 

BVPI 62 Unfit homes made 
fit or demolished 

4.69 0 0 N/A 

BVPI 64 Vacant private 
homes returned to use or 
demolished 

56.25 1 5 11 

BVPI 183a Average length of 
stay in B&B in weeks 

1 0 2 0.41 

BVPI 183b Average length of 
stay in hostels in weeks 

0 0 0 0 

BV203

Percentage change in 
average no of families in TA 

N/A N/A -35% -22% 

Source: Audit Commission audited figures 

 



50 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Appendix 2 – Documents 
reviewed

South Kesteven District Council 

Appendix 2 – Documents reviewed 
1 Before going on-site and during our visit, we reviewed various documents that 

were provided for us. These included: 

the Council's self-assessment of the service; 

Corporate Plan; 

Housing Strategy; 

Homelessness Strategy; 

Housing Service Plan; 

previous Audit Commission report and action plan; 

various committee reports and minutes of meetings; and 

leaflets and information for tenants. 

 



Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Appendix 3 – Reality checks 
undertaken 51

South Kesteven District Council 

Appendix 3 – Reality checks undertaken 
1 When we went on-site we carried out a number of different checks, building on 

the work described above, in order to get a full picture of how good the service 
is. These on-site reality checks were designed to gather evidence about what it 
is like to use the service and to see how well it works. Our reality checks 
included:

visits to temporary accommodation for homeless households; 

visits to partner agencies; 

various file checks; 

visits to development sites; 

review of councils website and leaflets; and 

interviews with staff, councillors and partners. 

 



52 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services Appendix 4 – Positive practice 

South Kesteven District Council 

Appendix 4 – Positive practice
‘The Commission will identify and promote good practice. Every 
inspection will look for examples of good practice and innovation, and 
for creative ways to overcome barriers and resistance to change or 
make better use of resources.’ (Seeing is Believing) 

Access to services

1 Access has recently been enhanced by the introduction of a county-wide initiative 
called 'Talk Back'. This provides direct access to a telephone answering service in 
a number of languages. The service makes arrangements on behalf of the 
customer to access the required service from the relevant council.  

2 To increase access to services for diverse communities, council officers attend 
the local college when English speaking classes are being run. They use the 
opportunity to explain the services that the Council can offer and to listen to the 
concerns of the attendees. A poster explaining the Council's services has also 
been produced and was distributed at various outlets. This included a number to 
contact for any type of enquiries. This had a good response and enabled the 
Council to identify the most commonly used languages. The poster was 
subsequently translated into these languages and distributed to appropriate 
venues.

Meeting diverse needs 

3 A representative from the Gangmasters Licensing Authority was invited to a 
meeting attended by council officers and other appropriate agencies, to talk about 
issues relating to migrant workers. Opportunities for information sharing have 
been identified, particularly in relation to where migrant workers live, as many 
occupy Houses in Multiple Occupation which may not be known to the Council. 

Value for money 

4 The Council ensures that resources are aligned to priorities through a system of 
gateway reviews. Gateway reviews are carried out by Members and senior 
managers and are used to challenge services and the costs of providing them, 
and ensure that budgets are allocated accordingly. Revenue and capital budgets 
are subject to challenge and service plans include an assessment of value for 
money in relation to the services provided. The gateway review process enables 
the Council to clearly identify how resources are being used.

 



 1 

REPORT TO CABINET  

 
REPORT OF: Economic Development Portfolio Holder 
 
REPORT NO.: PLA623 
 
DATE: 6th November 2006 
 
 
 

 

TITLE: 
Local Development Framework – Core Strategy 
 

FORWARD PLAN 
ITEM: 

Yes 

DATE WHEN 
FIRST APPEARED 
IN FORWARD 
PLAN: 

17th August 2005 

KEY DECISION  
OR POLICY 
FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL: 

KEY DECISION 
 

 
 

COUNCIL 
AIMS/PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER NAME 
AND DESIGNATION: 

Councillor John Smith 
Economic Development 
 

CORPORATE 
PRIORITY: 

Town Centre Regeneration (A) 
Affordable Housing (A) 
Planning and Conservation (M) 

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Minor 
 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT 
IMPLICATIONS: 

All LDF documents are made available on the Council’s web site 
when published, and are made available for public inspection at the 
District Council’s offices and the local libraries in the district 

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT 

Carried out and appended to 
report? 

 
No 

Full impact assessment 
required? 

 
 

Agenda Item 6 



 2 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
PPS12: Local Development Frameworks  
Lincolnshire Structure Plan (Revised Deposit Draft) 
RSS8: Regional Spatial Strategy for the East Midlands to 2021  
Letter from GOEM 11th April 2005 
Letter from PINs 13th April 2005 
Letter from DCLG 11th August 2006 
Cabinet reports and minutes dated 24th November 2004, 7th February 
2005, 4th April 2005, 9th May 2005, 6th June 2005, 5th September 
2005, 10th October 2005, 6th January 2006, 3rd April 2006 and 9th 
October 2006 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Report PLA615 considered by Cabinet on 9th October 2006 established a new 

way forward for the development of the districts emerging Local Development 
Framework (LDF). Thus the Planning Policy team is now focussing on the 
preparation of the Core Strategy, taking into account the most recent advise of 
the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and from the 
Planning Inspectorate relating to the format and level of detail of emerging LDF 
documents. 

  
1.2 The guidance from DCLG is clear.  A Core Strategy must be clear and concise, 

and should consist only of the overarching planning framework, which will guide 
the broad location and distribution of development. In this respect it will need to 
consider the different options available to best meet the needs of the area.  It 
should therefore be unique to each local area.  To achieve this the Core 
Strategy must not simply repeat national and regional policies, nor should it be 
full of regulatory policies.   

 
1.3 Having considered this advice alongside the preferred options documents 

published this summer it is clear that policies included fall into two categories.  
Those for which a number of options must be considered before a preferred 
“local”option can be selected; and those which largely reflect national and/or 
regional guidance and for which there are no real alternative options.    

 
1.4 This report is the first of two that will consider the most appropriate way forward 

for progressing the new “Preferred Options” stage of the Core Strategy, whilst 
ensuring that the document meets the guidance available, and provides the 
district with an effective policy framework.   

 
1.5 This report considers those issues that should be included within the Core 

Strategy and how the other less “local” issues may be best handled and if 
appropriate how they could be included within the LDF. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the Cabinet: 
 

a) endorse the general approach set out in this report for the preparation of 
the Revised Core Strategy Preferred Options.   

 



 3 

b) Agree the proposed policy content of the Core Strategy Preferred Options 
as summarised in paragraphs 3.8 of this report.  

c) Consider the inclusion of three addition policies covering flood risk, 
energy efficiency in new buildings and renewable energy schemes as set 
out in paragraphs 3.6 and 3.9 of this report. 

 
 
3. DETAILS OF REPORT  
 
3.1 The Core Strategy should establish the vision and objectives for the plan period.  

It sets out the overarching planning policy framework for the district.  The 
policies in the Core Strategy “set the scene” for the more detailed site 
allocations and development control policies which will follow in subsequent 
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) and will be applicable to all types of 
development across the district.  All DPDs and SPDs will have to be in 
conformity with the Core Strategy.  

 
3.2 PPS12 advises that the Core Strategy should  

� set out the long term vision for the area and the strategic policies for 
delivering that vision 

� Seek to implement the spatial and transport policies of the Regional Plan 
� Set out broad locations for delivering housing, employment, retail, 

leisure, community and essential public services and transport 
development 

� Include criteria based policies to establish the framework for assessing 
unforeseen proposals 

 
3.3 More recent advice from DCLG and GOEM states that a typical Core Strategy 

should include: 
� Settlement Hierarchy and broad locations for development in the district. 
� Housing Strategy and affordable housing 
� Employment land strategy 
� Transport 
� Town Centres 
� Rural policies (where appropriate) 

 
3.4 In addition to these recommended policy areas the following issues are 

considered to be of particular local importance and should be included within 
our Core Strategy: 
� Gypsies and Travellers; the Gypsies and Travellers Survey 2006 

revealed that there is a need in the district for 20 additional permanent 
pitches and 5 transit pitches.  Circular 1/06 requires that the core strategy 
sets out criteria for the location of gypsy and traveller sites, to be used 
both to guide allocations and to determine applications. 

� Landscape Character Areas; A Landscape Character Assessment for the 
district has now been prepared – the conclusions of this affect the whole 
district and are very much “local” issues which should be included within 
the overarching framework. 

 



 4 

� S106 Planning Obligations; this issue needs clarification and a local 
protocol agreeing which may prioritise what funding / contributions are 
sought for. 

 
3.5 Members should note that three of these policy areas, Town Centres, Rural 

policies and Gypsies and Travellers, were not included within the previous draft 
of the Core Strategy (Town Centres and Gypsies and Travellers were however 
covered in the Housing and Economic DPD). 

 
3.6 Each of these nine policy areas will present the Council with a range of options 

for addressing the issues in the local context.  The Core Strategy Preferred 
Options would therefore need to demonstrate in some detail what options have 
been considered and why the preferred option has been selected.  This process 
must be closely referenced to the “robust” background evidence, which has 
been prepared over the last two – three years, and should demonstrate how the 
community’s views have influenced the decision making process. 

 
3.7 The previous version of the Core Strategy (published in June) also included the 

following polices: 
� Design of New Development 
� Protecting Neighbourhood Amenity 
� Development in Conservation Areas 
� Listed Buildings 
� Archaeological and Historic Sites 
� Reducing the Risk of Flooding and Protecting Water Resources 
� Generating Renewable energy 
� Renewable Energy Technologies in New Development 
� Pollution Control 

 
3.8 These policies largely reflect national and regional planning policy and as such 

there are no, or very limited alternative options to consider.  The advice of the 
DCLG implies that these policies should not be included within the Core 
Strategy, instead these should feature in later DPDs if required.  

 
3.9 In light of the proposed changes to the format of the LDF and the intention to 

produce a Development Control Policy document as well as a Site Allocations 
document, it is considered more appropriate to locate most of these policies 
within that document.  It is felt, however, that consideration should be given to 
the inclusion within the Core Strategy of three broad policies covering the 
Councils intentions in respect of flood risk; energy efficiency in new buildings; 
and renewable energy schemes.  Whilst these policies will be rooted in national 
guidance, and provide little opportunity to consider a variety of alternative 
options, they do relate to issues which have arisen since the Local Plan was 
adopted in 1995, and as a result represent a policy gap.  Members may 
therefore consider it appropriate for the Core Strategy to establish the Council’s 
approach on these matters. 

 
 
 
 

 



 5 

3.10 The table below indicates how it is felt that the issues covered in the previous 
draft of the Core Strategy should be addressed in the new format LDF. 

 

Core Strategy (summer 2006) 
Policy title 

To be included in 
the: 

Expected date 
of Adoption 

PO1 Sequential Development in 
SKDC 

Core Strategy Early 2008 

PO2 Sustainable Integrated 
Transport 

Core Strategy Early 2008 

PO3 Economic Development Core Strategy Early 2008 

PO4 Residential Development Core Strategy Early 2008 

PO5 Providing for Affordable 
Housing 

Core Strategy Early 2008 

PO6 Protection and Enhancement 
of the character of the District 

Core Strategy (as a 
LCA policy) 

Early 2008 

PO7 Design of New Development Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Late 2008 

PO8 Protecting Neighbourhood 
Amenity 

Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Late 2008 

PO9 Development in Conservation 
Areas 

Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Late 2008 

PO10 Listed Buildings Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Late 2008 

PO11 Archaeological and Historic 
Sites 

Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Late 2008 

PO12 Reducing the Risk of 
Flooding and Protecting Water 
Resources 

Core Strategy / 
Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Early 2008 / 
Late 2008 

PO13 Generating Renewable 
energy 

Core Strategy  
Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Early 2008 / 
Late 2008 

PO14 Renewable Energy 
Technologies in New Development 

Core Strategy Early 2008 

PO15 Pollution Control Development Control 
Policies DPD 

Late 2008 

PO16 Developer Contributions Core Strategy Early 2008 

     
  
3.11 It is therefore proposed that the South Kesteven Core Strategy should include 

the following key policy areas: 
� Spatial strategy (sequence for development) 
� Transport 
� Housing development - distribution and location criteria 
� Employment development - distribution and location criteria  
� Retail and leisure development - distribution and location criteria  
� Delivering Affordable housing 
� Providing for Gypsies and Travellers 
� Landscape Character 
� S106 planning obligations. 

 



 6 

Each of these policies will be set out in the “preferred options” document with 
details relating to options considered, including the potential implications of all 
options, consideration of feedback from public consultation and the reason for 
selecting a preferred option for each. 

 
3.12 In addition Members are asked to consider the inclusion the following three 

policies within the Core Strategy: Reducing the Risk of Flooding; Promoting 
Energy Efficiency in New Buildings; and Criteria for the Consideration of 
Renewable Energy Schemes. 

  
4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND ASSESSED  
 
4.1 Two alternative approaches could be considered.  The first would be to 

progress the Core Strategy with the same (or revised version of the same) 
policy topics included in the previous draft version.  However it is felt that some 
of the policies tended to repeat national guidance and are therefore 
inappropriate in the Core Strategy, in the light of new DCLG advice. 

 
4.2 The second alternative would be to include only the six policy topics suggested 

by the DCLG. However it is considered that this would present a very narrow 
Core Strategy which would fail to address all of the key local issues which are 
required if the Core Strategy is to effectively provide the overarching policy 
framework for the district. 

 
5. COMMENTS OF SECTION 151 OFFICER  
 
5.1 In adopting this approach the Council should be minimising the potential risk of 

the Planning Inspectorate considering that an unsound approach has been 
adopted and therefore reduce the likelihood of additional costs from any 
abortive work having to be borne by the Council at a later date. 

 
6. COMMENTS OF MONITORING OFFICER  
 
6.1 The principle of following the recent guidance issued by the DCLG was 

accepted by Cabinet at its meeting on the 9th October 2006. The 
recommendations made appear to follow that guidance. 

 
7. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICE MANAGER  
 
7.1 No comments. 
 
8. CONCLUSION/SUMMARY 
 
8.1 This report sets out the preferred approach to the preparation of an effective 

Core Strategy for South Kesteven, which will (it is hoped) be considered 
“sound” by the Planning Inspectorate.  The report sets out the suggested policy 
content, which takes full account of advice from PPS12, DCLG, PINs and 
GOEM. A further report will be presented to Cabinet that details the proposed 
wording and content of the revised Core Strategy Preferred Options for 
consultation. 

 



 7 

 
9. CONTACT OFFICER  
 
Mark Harrison 
Team Leader, Planning Policy 
01476 406438 
m.harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 101 Single Non-Emergency Number Partnership Bid: Update
	5 Re-inspection of Strategic Housing Services
	HST10 06.11.06 app A

	6 *Local Development Framework: Core Strategy Preferred Options for Public Consultation (Part 1)

